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About this report

This Annual Report documents 
Visit Victoria’s activities  
and achievements during the 
2020-21 financial year. Source 
material can be found on  
Visit Victoria’s website at 
corporate.visitvictoria.com.

The Victorian Auditor-General’s 
Office has independently 
audited the financial report and 
concludes that it presents fairly,  
in all material aspects, the 
financial position of Visit Victoria 
as at 30 June 2021.

For further information on the 
2020-21 Annual Report, contact 
Visit Victoria on +61 3 9002 2222 or 
feedback@visitvictoria.com.au.
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Other State Government programs, 
such as the Victorian Travel Voucher 
Scheme, has helped drive up visitation 
and expenditure across Melbourne and 
regional Victoria – complementing our 
Stay close, go further campaign.

Looking ahead, Visit Victoria will receive 
a $55 million marketing boost over two 
years as part of the Victorian Budget 
2021-22. The announcement was part 
of a $260 million package to rejuvenate 
Melbourne’s CBD and attract more 
visitors to the state.

For Visit Victoria, the multi-year 
commitment affords us with more 
certainty and the ability to better plan 
destination marketing campaigns and 
activity that showcase Melbourne and 
regional Victoria’s diversity for the next 
two years.

These are all positive steps for our 
industry as we continue to work  
together on the road to recovery.

Janet Whiting AM

Chair

While it will be some time before 
tourism returns to its pre-2020 levels, 
the visitor economy will continue to 
be a significant economic driver for 
Victoria. The combination of the state’s 
diverse natural environment, coupled 
with unique experiences, events and 
attractions, will ensure Melbourne and 
regional Victoria remain an attractive 
travel destination.

Certainly, there were bright moments 
in 2021. Consumer sentiment tracking 
showed business and consumer 
confidence returned quickly post-
lockdowns, and visitation was back  
to pre-pandemic levels in some 
regional Victorian locations during  
the Easter holidays. 

We acknowledge the support provided 
by State and Federal Governments for 
the tourism industry in response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, including business 
support packages, tourism packages 
and programs such as the payroll tax 
rebate or JobKeeper.

The State Government has provided 
significant additional funding for 
Visit Victoria’s recovery marketing 
campaigns, including $8.5 million  
for Click for Vic. We received a  
$152 million boost for the Major  
Events Fund over four years, ensuring 
Victoria can continue to attract 
international major events and retain 
our title as the events capital of 
Australia. The Business Events Program 
secured a funding commitment of 
$42.913 million over four years, which 
will support the acquisition of national 
and international events for the state.

Another beneficial initiative included 
the provision of free Australian  
Tourism Data Warehouse (ATDW) 
listings for tourism operators through 
to 30 June 2021. ATDW is the most 
effective way to ensure business details 
are accurate and up-to-date and are 
promoted on tourism websites such as 
visitvictoria.com. 

Foreword 
– Chair

Section 8, Tattersalls Lane
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The Melbourne Convention Bureau (MCB) 
continued to acquire a strong business 
events pipeline for Victoria. We secured 
40 events, which are expected to deliver 
$150 million to the state and attract 
30,700 delegates to 2028.

Visit Victoria and MCB maintained  
an international presence throughout 
2020-21, with our global teams continuing 
to build momentum and consideration 
alongside Tourism Australia, local 
partners and agencies. Our social  
media channels also continued to 
connect Victoria’s industry with a global 
audience. With planning for long-haul 
international holidays starting nine 
to twelve months before departure, 
this places us in good stead for when 
international travel resumes.

We’re grateful for the support we’ve 
received from industry, government, 
Tourism Australia, media partners  
and key distribution partners – 
always working with us in adapting  
to a changing environment.

While there is no doubt the global 
pandemic has challenged our industry, 
it has also presented new opportunities 
for us to pursue and carry forward. We 
remain optimistic for the future and we 
will be working hard to play our part in  
the recovery of the visitor economy.

Brendan McClements

Chief Executive Officer

From world-class events to natural 
springs, coastal villages, and urban 
laneways, Victoria is home to some of 
the most diverse tourism experiences 
globally. Prior to 2020, these experiences 
attracted millions of visitors to the state 
each year. 

The pandemic, along with the 2019-
20 summer bushfires and impacts of 
international border closures, saw the 
visitor economy valued at $9.8 billion  
at March 2021 – a 69 per cent decline 
since year-on-year according to  
Tourism Research Australia. 

Despite the adversity, it has been 
inspiring to see how Victoria’s tourism 
industry has responded – with resilience 
and adaptability.

Visit Victoria has also responded to the 
changing environment with creative 
new destination marketing campaigns 
and a strong pipeline of events. We 
have been working closely with industry, 
government and tourism operators to 
help the visitor economy to recover as 
quickly as possible. 

With international borders closed 
during the 2020-21 financial year, we 
did what we could to support Victorian 
producers and promoted travel once  
it was safe to do so.

Consumer sentiment tracking to 
monitor trends and attitudes towards 
travelling informed our marketing 
plans and campaigns to ensure 
they were appropriate, inspiring 
and relevant amidst the changing 
environment. Our three new destination 
marketing campaigns launched during 
the financial year were a manifesto of 
this approach.

Visit Victoria’s first retail campaign, 
Click for Vic, was launched in August 
2020 to support local tourism 
businesses by encouraging people 
to buy online. Importantly, it also built 
future consideration of travel in Victoria.

As travel restrictions eased in November 
2020, our new campaign, Stay close, go 
further, encouraged Victorians to travel 
within our state. It was followed by a new 
interstate campaign, Visit Melbourne, in 
January 2021.

In April 2021, Visit Victoria delivered the 
Victorian Tourism Conference at the 
Melbourne Convention and Exhibition 
Centre (MCEC) in partnership with the 
Victorian Tourism Industry Council. 
More than 900 delegates attended, 
providing an important moment for  
our industry to gather face-to-face, 
share insights and plan for recovery. 
At the time it was the largest business 
event held in Australia since the start  
of the pandemic.

Some fantastic major and regional 
events took place. Melbourne hosted 
the Australian Open, Melbourne 
Fashion Festival, Melbourne Food and 
Wine Festival and Melbourne Cup 
Carnival, while Amy’s Gran Fondo and 
the Road National Championships took 
place in regional Victoria.

Foreword 
– CEO

Sutton Gallery
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About Visit Victoria

Purpose

To inspire people to visit Melbourne  
and Victoria through creative story-telling 
and enriching events.

Role

Visit Victoria is the state’s tourism and 
events company. Our role is to drive 
visitation and expenditure through 
destination marketing and delivering a 
strong pipeline of events to support the 
visitor economy. 

Organisation structure

Major Events

Enhances Victoria’s reputation as Australia’s 
events capital and global events state. 
Converts current and potential strategic 
partners into long-term brand amplifiers  
for Victoria.

• Major event acquisition

• Regional Event Fund 
(REF) facilitation

• Event management

Melbourne Convention Bureau (business events)

Enhances Victoria’s reputation as Australia’s 
events capital and global events state.

• Acquisition and delivery 
of national and global 
business events

• Bids and business 
development across key 
government priorities

• Partnerships and events

• Marketing and 
communications

• Research and insights

• Convention services

Destination Marketing

Inspires and converts visitors to experience 
Melbourne and regional Victoria. Engages  
the visitor with inspiring and compelling 
stories at the right time, right place, and 
through the right channels.

• Global brand and 
consumer marketing

• Industry engagement 
and programs

• Global markets  
and commercial 

Corporate Relations

Leads innovative and creative strategies 
together with industry and government to 
drive growth in the visitor economy.

• Media, PR and 
communications

• Government relations

• Stakeholder engagement 

• Corporate reporting

• Domestic and 
international 
familiarisations

Corporate Operations

Ensures a compliant and sustainable 
organisation by identifying and implementing 
best practice financial, legal and IT services 
across the business, along with providing 
meaningful careers in a purpose driven and 
values-led organisation.

• Finance

• Risk management

• Legal

• Procurement

• Information technology 
support

• Recruitment

• Career development

• Employee relations

• Workplace safety

Strategy & Transformation

Leads innovative strategies and digital 
platforms that drive growth for the Victorian 
tourism economy.

• Research and insights

• Strategy and planning

• Digital technology, data 
and innovation

Design a Space
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Our people 

Workforce data

ONGOING EMPLOYEES

Employee  
headcount 

International, fixed 
term and casual  

employees

Total  
employees

Full-time 
ongoing 

headcount

Part-time 
ongoing 

headcount

Total  
ongoing 

headcount 

Total  
ongoing 

FTE*
Total FTE* Total FTE*

Year ending 
June 2020

93 8 101 98.2 63.7 161.9

Year ending 
June 2021

121 9 130 110.3 40 150.3

* FTE = Full Time Equivalent

GENDER

Gender Total  
employees

Ongoing  
employees

Fixed term and  
casual employees

Total FTE

Headcount FTE FTE
Year ending  
June 2020

Male 49 49 6 55

Female 81 78.3 17 95.3

LEADERSHIP TEAM

Male Female

Year ending June 2020 5 3

Year ending June 2021 4 3

Humble Ray’s Carlton

Visit Victoria’s commitment to creating 
a high-performance culture that delivers 
optimal outcomes for Victoria’s tourism 
industry continued in 2020-21.

Significant initiatives

• Organised our teams to ensure we 
responded to the new operating 
environment, including a greater focus 
on regional Victoria as we launched 
Click for Vic. 

• Developed cross-skilling opportunities 
within the organisation to develop 
an agile workforce that is capable of 
responding to the ongoing challenges 
posed by the COVID-19 pandemic.

• Continued focus on leadership, 
performance, capability and culture. 
Increased focus on building a 
high-performance culture through 
professional development and 
introducing new ways to engage 
employees throughout periods of 
remote work.
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Output targets and performance

Performance indicator
Unit of   
measurement

Quantity, 
quality,  
timeliness

2020-21 
Target

2020-21 
Actual

Performance
variation

1. 
Major sporting and  
cultural events held number Quantity 21 8 -62%

2.
Total engaged  
digital audience

number 
(million)

Quantity 5.4 5.5 2%

3. 
Visitor expenditure  
(domestic)* $ billion Quantity 23.2 9.7 -58%

4. 
Visitor expenditure 
(international)* $ billion Quantity 9.0 0.08 -99%

5. 
Visitor expenditure in regional 
Victoria (domestic)* $ billion Quantity 11.1 7.0 -37%

6. 
Visitor expenditure in regional 
Victoria (international)* $ million Quantity  N/A 36  N/A

7.
Visitor expenditure: regional 
Victoria (intrastate overnight)* $ billion Quantity 5.7 4.5 -21%

8. 
Number of overnight visitors 
(domestic)*

number 
(million)

Quantity 29.5 13.4 -55%

9. 
Number of visitors 
(international)*

number 
(million)

Quantity 3.2 0.01 -99%

10.
Visitors: regional Victoria 
(intrastate overnight)*

number 
(million)

Quantity 16.4 10.3 -37%

11. 
Value of media generated: 
domestic $ million Quantity 22 37.9 72%

12.
Value of media generated: 
international $ million Quantity 46 17.89 -61%

13. 

Completion of post-event 
reports and economic impact 
assessments of each event 
within agreed timeframes

per cent Timeliness 100 100 0

* year ending March 2021

Our performance

Visitor Economy Recovery and Reform Plan 

The Victorian Government’s Visitor Economy Recovery and Reform Plan outlines a roadmap to help to 
revitalise and grow Victorian tourism following the impacts of the bushfires and the global pandemic.

Visit Victoria is supporting the plan which outlines strategies to attract more international, interstate and 
intrastate visitors by making the most of marketing expenditure and ensuring state-wide collaboration. 
The plan is underpinned by a Victorian Government investment of $633 million and serves as a whole-of-
state strategy, with a goal of achieving $35 billion in annual visitor expenditure supporting 300,000 jobs 
by June 2024. 

VISITOR EXPENDITURE

Visitor expenditure  
– year ending March 2021 

Visitor expenditure target  
– year ending June 2024 Comments

$9.8 billion $35 billion

Total tourism expenditure in Victoria 
was $9.8 billion in the year ending 
March 2021, representing a significant 
decline of 69 per cent year-on-year 
due to the dual crises of bushfires and 
COVID-19, which have had a significant 
impact on the visitor economy in 
Victoria this year. 

Total tourism expenditure in Victoria 
suffered a net loss of $21.5 billion year-
on-year, with further losses expected as 
the crisis continues to unfold. 

JOBS

Jobs –  
year ending June 2020

Jobs target  
– year ending June 2024 Growth rate

232,000 jobs 300,000 jobs

In total, tourism generated 232,000 
jobs in 2019-20, representing a decline 
of 11.9 per cent compared to revised 
2018-19 estimates. Tourism’s share of 
employment in Victoria has declined 
from 7.8 per cent in 2018-19 to 6.8 per 
cent in 2019-20.

Further losses are to be expected as 
the pandemic continues to unfold.
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Table commentary

1. COVID-19 resulted in a number of events not being 
able to proceed due to restrictions. The eight events 
which proceeded included: Australian Open, State of 
Music - Sounds Better Together, Melbourne Fashion 
Festival, Melbourne Food and Wine Festival, RISING (as 
a result of lockdowns, RISING was cancelled beyond the 
opening night), Melbourne Winter Masterpieces French 
Impressionism at NGV, Melbourne Winter Masterpieces 
Disney: The Magic of Animation at ACMI, Harry Potter 
and the Cursed Child.

2. COVID-19 resulted in continued fluctuations  
in digital audiences due to impacts from ongoing  
travel restrictions and lockdowns, particularly  
in relation to international consumer website 
audiences. Overall there was a small increase versus 
target in digital audiences which was supported by 
Click for Vic, the intrastate and interstate Visit Victoria 
media campaigns in market when domestic travel 
restrictions eased, and contacts acquired via the travel 
voucher scheme.

3. Lower result due to the impact of COVID-19 and 
associated restrictions on domestic travel. Results 
differ significantly when cut by source market, 
destination and time of year. Intrastate outperformed 
interstate, with total intrastate expenditure of  
$8.5 billion down 44.1 year on year (year ending  
March 2020), with interstate down 84.0 per cent to  
$1.3 billion. Subsequently, regional Victoria 
outperformed Melbourne, with regional expenditure 
at $7.0 billion and down 38.2 per cent (versus year end 
March 2020), compared to Melbourne at $2.7 billion, a 
decline of 76.8 per cent. Border restrictions, uncertainty 
around travel and changing consumer preferences 
due to the pandemic influenced these results. 

4. Lower result due to the impact of COVID-19 and 
associated restrictions on international travel. 

5. Lower result due to the impact of COVID-19 and 
associated restrictions on domestic travel. While visitor 
expenditure was below pre-COVID levels, regional 
Victoria outperformed Melbourne significantly and 
during periods where restrictions were eased, saw high 
levels of expenditure. There was $3.5 billion in regional 
Victoria domestic visitor expenditure in the March 2021 
quarter, which was 4.3 per cent higher than March 2019 
(pre-COVID-19) expenditure, highlighting the consumer 
demand that does exist when restrictions allow. 

6. Due to international border closures and the 
cessation of survey interviewing for the International 
Visitor Survey, international visitor data is currently 
limited to state-wide results and no regional estimates 
are available for the year ending March 2021 (latest 
available data). 

7. Lower result due to the impact of COVID-19  
and associated restrictions on domestic travel. 

However, the intrastate overnight market to regional 
Victoria was the best performing segment of travel in 
2020-21 for Victoria. The target was primarily not met 
due to the September quarter, where travel was heavily 
restricted due to COVID-19. The March 2021 quarter was 
a high performing quarter, with fewer restrictions of 
travel, and the total expenditure of that period of $2.4 
billion significantly higher than both March 2020 and 
March 2019 quarters. 

8. Lower result due to the impact of COVID-19 and 
associated restrictions on domestic travel. Results differ 
drastically when cut by source market, destination 
and time of year. Regional Victoria significantly 
outperformed Melbourne, with total visitation down 
39.6 per cent year on year (year ending March 2020), 
compared to Melbourne at -76.0 per cent. Across 
the same time periods, intrastate (-39.8 per cent) 
outperformed interstate (-83.4 per cent) travel. Border 
restrictions, uncertainty around travel and changing 
consumer preferences due to the pandemic influenced 
these results.

9. Lower result due to the impact of COVID-19 and 
associated restrictions on international travel.

10. Lower result due to the impact of COVID-19 and 
associated restrictions on domestic travel. The largest 
impacts were seen during the September 2020 quarter, 
where restrictions were significant. The best performing 
quarter was March 2021, with visitation up year on year 
against March 2020 (+ 11.9 per cent) and only slightly 
below pre-COVID levels (March 2019, -5.2 per cent). 

11. The high value of media coverage generated for 
the 2020-21 financial year is attributed to a major 
focus on domestic travel, plus an ongoing inclination 
from media to support Victoria as the state hardest 
hit by the pandemic. Significant highlights included 
the launch of the Click for Vic campaign, launch of the 
intrastate Stay close, go further campaign, launch of 
the interstate Visit Melbourne campaign, Silo Art Hotel 
activation announcement and familiarisation coverage 
from the rescheduled Wine Down Pop Up. A number of 
syndicated multi-page features also raised the total, 
such as the ‘Hot 50 Places to Stay’ in the Weekend 
Australian, in which Victoria had strong share of voice.

12. Due to the ongoing closures of international borders 
following the COVID-19 outbreak, Visit Victoria reduced 
public relations activities for the 2020-21 financial 
year, resulting in a reduction in Advertising Value 
Equivalency (AVE) results. A strong final quarter as a 
result of onboarding new public relations agencies 
in priority markets, including USA, UK and EU, saw 
Victoria secure a number of high-profile editorial 
pieces, underpinning a higher than expected fourth 
term. Long-lead feature coverage resulting from 
familiarisations completed in previous years also 
boosted the total.

13. All required event reporting has been completed  
by contracted events within required timeframes.

Phillip Island Winery - The Yards
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The campaign ran across TV, print, 
radio, out-of-home, digital display, 
catch-up TV, search engine marketing, 
social, PR and content partnerships. 

The creative tapped into the empathy 
of Victorians by showing makers and 
creators behind Victorian products, 
reminding consumers that a purchase 
would directly help local businesses.   

Through partnerships with ecommerce 
platforms – Victorian Country Market, 
Providoor and Co-lab Pantry – as well 
as local tourism body initiatives and 
almost 500 businesses, Visit Victoria 
connected visitors with products and 
experiences to be enjoyed at home. 

This way, tourism operators were  
able to receive website traffic off the 
back of the campaign’s multi-million 
dollar media buy – injecting much-
needed revenue into hundreds of 
Victorian businesses.

Click for Vic began as a celebration 
of the depth and breadth of local 
products Victoria had to offer.

Quarter One
July to September 2020

The COVID-19 pandemic had a  
significant impact on the visitor  
economy with restrictions across  
events, gatherings and non-essential  
travel in the first quarter.

To support the industry, Visit Victoria 
focused on what it could do to support 
Victorian producers by encouraging  
people to buy online and building  
future consideration of travel in Victoria, 
when safe to do so. We also undertook 
planning for various activities to drive 
growth in the visitor economy for when 
restrictions eased.

Key activity

Gippsland Art Gallery - Sale

Click for Vic Campaign

As it progressed, it focused on key retail 
opportunities like Father’s Day, Spring 
Racing and the festive season.

To broaden the campaign’s reach, 
we partnered with author and media 
personality, Alice Zaslavsky, to secure 
additional coverage which enabled us 
to develop compelling content for other 
activities such as the AFL Grand Final.

By November, half of Victoria’s adult 
population had seen the campaign.  
And one in four had made a purchase  
as a result.

Click for Vic tapped into the altruism 
Victorians were feeling and gave  
them a sense that they could help  
their state. They welcomed the initiative, 
which delivered more than 600,000 
clicks through to Victorian businesses, 
and email open rates three times the 
industry standard.

Click for Vic

With travel restrictions in place,  
Visit Victoria acted swiftly to 
repurpose footage originally filmed 
for a tourism campaign into an 
integrated retail campaign.

On 23 August 2020, Click for Vic  
was launched with a call-to-arms  
for Victorians to support local  
makers and creators by buying  
local products online.

The Victorian Government launched 
the campaign and, in the hours that 
followed, Visit Victoria’s website 
received the most traffic it had ever 
received in a single day.
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Campaign channel results and targets: 

• 653,452 visits to the Click for Vic webpages (target 720,000) 

• 619,115 leads to operator websites (target 648,000) 

• 20,858 database acquisition (target 21,000)

• $3,210,144 worth of earned media (target $3 million) and 60+ unique articles

• 38.7 million social media impressions (target 30 million)

• 29,391 #clickforvic hashtags (target 24,000) 

Mörk Chocolate Brew House, North Melbourne Gather & Harvest, Mount Beauty

Patient Wolf Distilling Co., SouthbankRuby Pilven Ceramics, Ballarat 

While your next road trip might be on hold for now, you can still champion  
local and get behind the people and businesses you love.

Discover how at
visitvictoria.com/clickforvic

Ghost Wares, AbbotsfordWalkabout Apiaries, Milawa

While your next road trip might be on hold for now, you can still champion 
local and get behind the people and businesses you love.

Discover how at
visitvictoria.com/clickforvic

However, the biggest results were the 
impact it had on Victorian businesses.

“Our online sales, which are the vast 
majority of our sales while the venue is 
closed are up over 400 per cent since  
the campaign launched. This means more 
to the team and our business than you 
could possibly imagine. Thank you.”  
– Nathan Cowan, Billson’s Brewery 

“Congratulations to the team, the team 
are packing $500 worth of orders this 
morning and great to be a part of Click 
for Vic. Kudos on the quality of the website 
too.” – Mandy Bishop, Platypi Chocolate

Click for Vic helped Victoria’s tourism 
industry get through one of the toughest 
periods it had ever faced. And importantly, 
it reminded Victorians of what was waiting 
for them when travel returned – helping 
our tourism industry to rebuild and thrive 
into the future.

A survey of campaign 
effectiveness found:

• 48 per cent of Victoria’s adult 
population recall seeing 
campaign advertising 

• 89 per cent stated they 
are more likely to consider 
purchasing Victorian products  
as a result of seeing the 
campaign  

• 25 per cent of Victorians made 
a purchase related action as a 
result of seeing the campaign  

• 72 per cent of Victorians said, 
“An initiative of this nature 
makes me look forward to 
visiting and exploring regional 
Victoria once it is safe to do so”. 
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Promoting tourism  
experiences and businesses

In 2020-21, Visit Victoria launched a 
cooperative marketing program with 
Regional Tourism Boards (RTBs) to 
align consumer marketing efforts  
and maximise recovery for the 
state. All 11 RTBs participated in the 
campaign, which delivered $966,000  
in collective paid media investment. 
The program included custom 
magazines, social media, email  
and content partnerships.

Visit Victoria also facilitated nine 
regional product briefings for RTBs 
to showcase new experiences and 
businesses in the regions. The RTB 
briefings moved to a virtual format 
that enabled greater attendance 
including from Visit Victoria’s  
global offices.

The featured regions were Bendigo, 
Grampians, Gippsland, Murray, Yarra 
Ranges Tourism, Ballarat, Great Ocean 
Road, Daylesford/Macedon Ranges, 
Geelong and the Bellarine.

A product briefing was also 
conducted with Greater Melbourne 
Councils, featuring City of Port Phillip, 
Melbourne’s West Tourism and the City 
of Greater Dandenong, to enable them 
to showcase their tourism businesses. 

The online briefings continue to 
attract a significant presence from 
across the marketing, digital and 
communications divisions at Visit 
Victoria, including global offices.

Visit Victoria continued to showcase 
our state through targeted media 
hosting. Familiarisations play an 
integral role in developing and 
maintaining product exposure across 
media outlets, social and digital 
platforms and building travel agents’ 
product knowledge to enable visitor 
conversion. When it was safe to do so, 
we arranged 94 media familiarisations, 
facilitating travel for 199 participants. 

The provision of free Australian 
Tourism Data Warehouse (ATDW) 
listings for tourism operators was 
extended through to 30 June 2021. 
ATDW is the most effective way  
to ensure business details are  
accurate and up-to-date and are 
promoted on tourism websites such  
as visitvictoria.com.

MCB provides sector expertise 
for recovery framework

Melbourne Convention Bureau (MCB) 
continued to work collaboratively with 
industry and government to focus  
on the long-term sustainability of the 
business events sector. MCB took a 
lead role in advocating on behalf of 
the sector to support the recovery 
process by providing sector expertise 
and consultation in developing a 
COVID-19 Business Events Response 
and Recovery Framework at a national 
level with the Business Events Council 
of Australia (BECA).

Mallacoota Bottom Lake
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MELBOURNE
OFFICIAL GUIDE

AND VICTORIA

CLICK 
HERE 

TO WIN
See inside

Take It Outside
Melbourne’s best parks

Meet the Makers
The homegrown creatives

Taste the Regions
Rediscover culinary delights

MELBOURNE
OFFICIAL GUIDE

AND VICTORIA

FIND 
OUT 

MORE 
HERE

Welcome to RISING
Melbourne’s new major festival

ACMI Reimagined
Discover screen culture 

Get Cosy in the Regions
Think red wine and 
quaint accommodation

Official Visitor Product  
pivots to domestic market

The Official Visitor Products re-focused 
to a domestic audience aiming to build 
confidence and create new ways to 
inspire travel and support Victoria’s 
tourism industry.

Visit Victoria introduced a state-wide 
approach to editorial and upgraded the 
content on Melbourne’s CBD, suburbs 
and regions of Victoria to feature 
more than 1000 tourism products and 
experiences. We integrated with seasonal 
and interstate marketing campaigns and 
increased the focus on Aboriginal and 
sustainable tourism products.

Throughout 2020-21, we released three 
editions of the Melbourne and Victoria 
Official Visitor Guide reaching more than 
1.3 million readers across Australia.  
A new distribution model was  
introduced to identify high-yield 
consumer audiences and maximise 
conversion for industry operators. 

For the first time, the Official Visitor Guide 
was delivered directly to more than 
600,000 homes across more than 200 
postcodes in Melbourne, regional Victoria, 
Sydney, and the bordering interstate 
towns – creating a new and direct way 
to inspire and inform travel choices and 
connect consumers directly to industry 
operators. Additionally, the guides were 
circulated through a network of more 
500 visitor hubs across Melbourne and 
regional Victoria.

For the first time, the Official Visitor  
Guide was able to engage with its 
readership through online engagement 
activity across Visit Victoria’s website, 
eDMs, and paid social media campaigns 
reaching up to 300,000 new audiences 
per season. We also conducted a  
series of snapshot consumer surveys 
revealing a solid interest in Visit  
Victoria’s print publications.

6,830
Delegates expected to business 
events in future years, from 
events secured YTD  
(18 per cent of target)

$45.4m
Forecast economic impact of 
business events in future years, 
from events secured YTD   
(23 per cent of target)

$3.1m
Value of domestic  
media generated 
(target $22 million) 

25,560
Room nights from business 
events in future years, from 
events secured YTD   
(27 per cent of target)

Secured a major event 
as part of the Major 
Events Fund, the  
UCI Gran Fondo World 
Championships 2025

4.7m
Engaged digital audience 
(target 5.4 million)

Key results 

Get into Melbourne’s creative spirit with 
food, fashion and any number of events 
during these cooler months.

You won’t believe your eyes. Midyear in Melbourne and 
beyond brings bright blue skies and cooler temperatures, 
making it the perfect time to explore everything Victoria has 
to offer. You can still take long walks in the sunshine during 
the day and seek out cosy restaurants and stunning musical 
performances after dark.

Melbourne’s creative side really shines when the days 
become shorter, encouraging us to embrace all the city has 
to offer. Locals express their personalities with fashion that 
will inspire style in all who wander the streets, and this is 
the perfect time to seek out hidden gems: bars tucked into 
basement spaces, unique performance spaces offering 
theatre, opera and dance, and restaurants heating up their 
pans with seasonal menus.

Feel the energy created during cool days. There are artists, 
designers, makers and creators inspiring all around them and 
making Melbourne the place to be. In winter, Melbourne’s 
energy excites the mind.

Enjoy Victoria.

Brendan McClements
CEO Visit Victoria

Enjoy  
Victoria  

Welcome

4

Chinatown, Little Bourke St

5

Enjoy  
Victoria  
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Gippsland and High Country films 
included a diverse range of maker 
talent from businesses such as Orbost’s 
Sailors Grave Brewing and Mount 
Hotham’s Alpine Nature Experience, 
among others. 

As part of the campaign, Visit  
Victoria partnered with 3AW  
Breakfast to broadcast Ross & Russ 
from Yarrawonga and Port Fairy.  
We facilitated multiple weeks of  
weather reporting on the road for  
Jane Bunn (Seven News) and Livinia 
Nixon (Nine News). Our partnerships 
with Sunrise and Today Show enabled 
us to promote more locations including 
Halls Gap, Echuca, Yarrawonga, Bright, 
Tawonga, Lakes Entrance, Bendigo  
and Daylesford. 

Visit Victoria also began planning  
for filming on the Murray, Grampians 
and the Great Ocean Road.  

The campaign has a state-wide  
focus, promoting both Melbourne  
and regional Victoria and has  
been rolled out across television,  
print, out-of-home, radio, digital, 
content partnerships, social and 
public relations.

The campaign showcased Victorian 
makers and creators in some of the 
regions hit hardest by the summer 
bushfires and global pandemic, 
including Gippsland, Melbourne  
and the High Country. 

As well as a dedicated Melbourne 
television commercial, we also 
launched films across social and 
digital channels profiling key local 
talent representing the Koorie Heritage 
Trust, Gimlet restaurant and Alpha  
60 fashion label and retail store.

Quarter Two
October to December 2020

Visit Victoria continued to focus on 
supporting the industry through local 
campaigns to build consideration and 
inspire people to travel in the future.  
Once travel restrictions eased, a new 
interstate campaign was launched  
and planning for a new interstate  
travel campaign continued.

Stay close, go further

To coincide with the easing of travel 
restrictions in November 2020, Visit 
Victoria launched its new intrastate 
campaign Stay close, go further.

Key activity

The multimillion-dollar campaign 
urged Victorians to get moving again 
by reigniting the passion for their home 
state, while also targeting visitors from 
bordering regions of New South Wales 
and South Australia as further travel 
restrictions eased.  

The concept is a unifying proposition 
that aims to create a ‘new view’ of our 
state to Victorians. The creative concept 
showcases the creativity, culture and 
beauty of Victoria through its people, 
with Victoria’s makers and creators 
playing a central role in the campaign 
to tell the story of Victoria’s regions and 
build a strong emotional connection. 

Stay close, go further Campaign

Campaign channel results and targets: 

• 4.27 million visits to visitvictoria.com from Victoria (excluding Click for Vic)  
(target 4.2 million)

• 523,531 industry leads to operator websites (target 490,690)

• $15 million worth of earned media (target $6.5 million)

• 55 per cent have recalled seeing advertising communications (target 40 per cent) 

• 29 per cent of campaign recognisers have taken action as a result of seeing the 
campaign (target 20 per cent) 

Stay close, go further Campaign
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Redwood Forest, Victoria

Stay close,
go further.

VISIT GIPPSLAND

Paynesville, Gippsland

Mark Briggs
Sardine Eatery & BarSardine Eatery & Bar

The phone call comes in at The phone call comes in at 
the break of dawn. The boats the break of dawn. The boats 
have docked with our fish, have docked with our fish, 
and we know it’s just been and we know it’s just been 
caught. More than using caught. More than using 
what’s in season, we get the what’s in season, we get the 
freshest produce at their best. freshest produce at their best. 
We serve East Gippsland on a We serve East Gippsland on a 
plate, inspired by the amazing plate, inspired by the amazing 
ingredients at our doorstep.ingredients at our doorstep.

visitvictoria.comvisitvictoria.com

Support for First Peoples  
tourism businesses 

In recognition of the important role  
that First Peoples tourism has in 
Victoria’s visitor economy, Visit Victoria 
began our own learning journey on 
how we could better support Aboriginal 
tourism businesses.

In 2020-21, our program of activity 
included:

• Working closely with members of the 
Taungurung, Dja Wurrung, Gunditj 
Mirring Traditional Owner Corporations 
and a partnership of Melbourne-based 
tourism operators to assist with the 
development of their First Peoples 
tourism experiences.

• Providing ongoing advice to support 
Budj Bim Cultural Landscape tourism 
product development and marketing.

• Recognising Aboriginal Party (RAP) 
engagement including product testing 
and community consultation.

• Supporting LGAs and Councils  
to engage and research  
opportunities in partnership  
with First Peoples communities.

• Conducting Cultural Awareness  
and Capability workshops with  
Tourism North East and Grampians 
Tourism, stakeholders, and the Visit 
Victoria team.

MCB expands digital  
presence in China

After more than 15 years of active  
in-market representation across China 
and Hong Kong, MCB deepened its 
engagement with one of Victoria’s 
most valuable business and tourism 
markets with the launch of a new  
in-language website and popular 
Chinese social accounts.

The new in-language website and 
presence on WeChat and YouKu 
include relevant and engaging content, 
featuring information about MCB 
and its services, local knowledge to 
support planning a business event 
in the destination, sample incentive 
programs, case-studies of successful 
programs and the latest news on 
Melbourne incentive travel and 
business events.

Knowledge Partners amplify 
Melbourne’s global position

Underlining MCB’s commitment to 
delivering a strong visitor economy 
and robust knowledge community, 
MCB established a new Knowledge 
Partnership program, with the 
aim of formalising partnerships 
with key universities, research 
institutions, government and industry 
organisations. Our first partner, The 
Doherty Institute, was signed shortly 
after the program’s launch.

The program created collaboration 
opportunities from extended cross-
promotion across global knowledge 
partner networks, garnered the  
latest research and insights, and  
drew attention to upcoming 
International Association bid 
opportunities and support in  
confirmed events for Melbourne.
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Creating business development  
opportunities for MCB partners

MCB created new and unique high-level engagement 
opportunities for MCB partners across a combination of 
trade training, event planning, agent liaising and media 
activity. The team continued to expand virtual reality and 
experiential content featuring MCB partners to more than 
4,000 event planners, professional conference organisers and 
key international association decision makers through hosted 
webinars and livestreamed product showcases.

MCB expanded its presence across 15 tradeshows across 
Europe, Asia, USA and Australia through interactive virtual 
booths, securing almost 300 appointments, and in-person 
attendance where possible.

Support for the travel  
voucher scheme

Visit Victoria supported the Department 
of Jobs, Precincts and Regions (DJPR) 
which delivered a state-wide travel 
voucher scheme to boost local tourism 
among Victorian residents as a result of 
COVID-19 impacts.

The Regional Travel Voucher Scheme 
(rounds 1,2,4) was introduced to 
encourage travel to regional Victoria, 
while the Melbourne Travel Voucher 
Scheme (round 3) was designed to 
encourage visits to metropolitan 
Melbourne and support businesses.

DJPR facilitated the promotion, 
application and registration management 
of all travel vouchers worth $200 for  
$400 spent in-region on accommodation, 
experiences, tours or attractions.

Visit Victoria entered into a fixed-term 
data sharing agreement with DJPR to 
provide all users the option to hear about 
travel via Visit Victoria.

Key results from this partnership 
included:

• Of the 125,882 contacts received 
by Visit Victoria, 76 per cent were 
activated in marketing campaigns 
(as at September 2021).

• 3530 leads (from 40,850 users) 
have been generated for industry 
operators by referral traffic from the 
voucher application websites (8.6 
per cent conversion rate).

• Mornington Peninsula, Great Ocean 
Road and Daylesford Macedon 
Ranges saw the highest volume of 
industry leads generated on site 
from the voucher referral traffic.

$74m
Forecast economic impact of 
business events in future years, 
from events secured YTD  
(37 per cent of target)

$16.03m
Value of domestic  
media generated 
(target $22 million) 

11,880
Delegates expected to business 
events in future years, from 
events secured YTD 
(31 per cent of target)

37,645
Room nights from business 
events in future years, from 
events secured YTD  
(39 per cent of target)

4.7m
Engaged digital audience 
(target 5.4 million)

Key results 

Regent Theatre, Melbourne
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Campaign channel results and targets: 

• 4.27 million visits to visitmelbourne.com from Victoria

• 654,810 industry leads to operator websites

• $8.5 million worth of earned media

• 19.2 million social media impressions

• 40 per cent have recalled seeing advertising communications

• 57 per cent of campaign recognisers have taken action as a result of seeing  
the campaign 

The campaign was designed to help 
support Victoria’s visitor economy by 
increasing visitation and expenditure 
to the state. It took a humorous 
approach to showcase the depth and 
breadth of Melbourne and Victoria’s 
product offering, highlighting new 
and compelling experiences to those 
who think they have experienced all 
Melbourne and Victoria has to offer.

In a series of films, the campaign 
showcases experiences synonymous 
with Melbourne and Victoria, with 
film content themed around ‘any 
place new’, ‘neighbourhoods’, ‘food 
and drink’, ‘road trips’, ‘boutique 
shopping’, ‘laneways’, ‘galleries and 
museums’ and ‘attractions’, as well 
as communicating different ways to 
spend time in Melbourne and Victoria. 

The Visit Melbourne campaign rolled 
out paid media content through  
major partnerships with Nine and 
Newscorp and media included full page 
branded advertisements, editorial and 
advertorial content, digital sponsored 
content, and digital display.  

Activity also included co-op partnership 
campaign activity for RISING and 
Moulin Rouge! The Musical with 
Broadsheet and TimeOut.

Broadcast partnerships throughout this 
period included Australian Open (for 
launch), MasterChef (inclusive of  
a consumer promotion) and the AFL.

Quarter Three
January to March 2021

In quarter three, Visit Victoria welcomed 
the return of the Australian Open, 
Harry Potter and the Cursed Child, the 
Melbourne Fashion Festival, Come From 
Away and Melbourne Food and Wine 
Festival. We also continued developing 
and delivering marketing campaigns 
to attract visitation to Melbourne and 
regional Victoria.

Key activity

Get set to Visit Melbourne 

Visit Victoria worked with Working Dog 
Productions to launch a new interstate 
campaign Visit Melbourne within the 
Australian Open finals in February 2021.

A fully integrated campaign approach 
was rolled out across multiple paid 
media channels and supported  
by public relations and trade and 
industry partnerships. 

Visit Melbourne Campaign
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Rone in Geelong

All eyes on Melbourne for  
the Australian Open

The Australian Open 2021 marked 
a significant return of international 
sport to the main stage in Melbourne.

Along with launching Visit Melbourne, 
Visit Victoria worked closely with  
Tennis Australia and broadcasters 
to integrate our recovery marketing 
campaign messages throughout the 
Grand Slam tournament.

In the lead up to the Grand Slam, we 
secured the naming rights to events 
in the Melbourne Summer Series and 
used the opportunity to promote 
regional destinations. 

Gippsland on show  
to travel media 

Visit Victoria partnered with AAT 
Kings, Destination Gippsland and 
Empty Esky to host a group media 
familiarisation to support bushfire 
affected areas of East Gippsland 
and tour operators impacted by  
the pandemic.  

After flying into Merimbula, the 
group boarded a luxurious AAT 
Kings coach and travelled to 
Mallacoota, where they enjoyed a 
scenic boat cruise and learnt about 
the abalone industry. From there, 
they took in the sights of Cape 
Conran and enjoyed a meal at the 
Marlo Hotel, ahead of exploring 
the ancient Buchan Caves and an 
overnight stay in Lakes Entrance. 

On day three, the group travelled  
to Metung to see the site for the  
upcoming hot springs development,  
and across to Lindenow for lunch at  
Long Paddock before driving home  
into a spectacular sunset.

The trip resulted in coverage of the 
region across a number of media 
outlets, including the Weekend 
Australian, Traveller, Escape, VICE, 
Domain Review, Travel Awaits and 
Urban List.

Rone brings first solo  
exhibition to Geelong

Geelong-born street artist Rone 
presented an immersive exhibition  
at the Geelong Gallery with support  
from the Regional Events Fund. 

The funding was used to support the 
exhibition as well as raise the profile of 
Geelong as a destination for arts and 
cultural experiences. 

Rone transformed the gallery space to 
present the first comprehensive solo 
exhibition of his 20-year career. The 
exhibition included early stencil work 
and photography charting the artist’s 
signature installations which have 
transformed abandoned buildings  
in Victoria.

The exhibition ran from 27 February  
to 16 May 2021 and attracted 46,800 
attendees from near and far, with 56 per 
cent of visitors coming from outside the 
region and 16 per cent staying overnight. 

Rone in Geelong successfully attracted 
visitors to Geelong and the Bellarine, 
injected money into the regional 
economy and proved once again that 
Victoria is the street-art state of Australia.

The Great Ocean Road Open and 
Murray River Open were part of the 
men’s pretournament games, with the 
Gippsland Trophy, Yarra Valley Classic 
and Phillip Island Trophy featuring in 
the women’s program.

Working with Tennis Australia, we 
secured extensive logo placement 
and destination integration across 
Melbourne Park and player interviews. 
Destination footage was also 
integrated throughout domestic and 
global broadcasts and featured on 
the Australian Open’s on-site screens, 
website, official program and social  
media channels.

We also hosted top tier media  
from Traveller Magazine, Gourmet 
Traveller, news.com.au and Australian 
Community Media, resulting in 
significant national coverage.

Music From The Home Front live in 2021

Visit Victoria partnered with Mushroom Group to stage ‘Music From  
The Home Front’ at the Sidney Myer Music Bowl on 24 April in a 
celebration of live music.

Some of the biggest names in Australian music performed at the  
ANZAC Day eve concert in front of a crowd of up to 2,700, as well as 
national broadcast audience.

In addition to supporting the live music industry in Victoria, ‘Music 
From The Home Front’ brought thousands of people into the city and 
showcased Melbourne’s live music credentials to the rest of the country. 

Australian Open

34   VISIT VICTORIA  Annual Report 2020-21 VISIT VICTORIA  Annual Report 2020-21   35   



24,136
Delegates expected to business 
events in future years, from 
events secured YTD 
(62 per cent of target)

$127.5m
Forecast economic impact of 
business events in future years, 
from events secured YTD  
(64 per cent of target)

$24.9m
Value of domestic  
media generated 
(target $22 million) 

57,404
Room nights from business 
events in future years, from 
events secured YTD  
(60 per cent of target)

5.7m
Engaged digital audience 
(target 5.4 million)

Facilitated four major events 
as part of the Major Events 
Fund, including Australia 
Open, Victoria: The State of 
Music, Melbourne Fashion 
Festival and Melbourne Food 
and Wine Festival

Secured four major events 
as part of the Major Events 
Fund, including State of Music 
2021 and Beyond, Melbourne 
Winter Masterpieces 
Disney: The Magic of 
Animation, Melbourne 
Winter Masterpieces French 
Impressionism and Gabrielle 
Chanel Exhibition

Funded three events as 
part of the Regional Events 
Fund, including Federation 
University Road National 
Championships, RONE and 
Go Fish

Wine Down Pop Up sells out

The much-anticipated return of the 
Wine Down Pop Up sold out in record 
time, showing Victorians were keen 
to get out to regional Victoria and 
explore local destinations.

The activation saw upcycled shipping 
containers pop up at Seville Estate 
in the Yarra Valley, Montalto on the 
Mornington Peninsula and All Saints 
Estate in Rutherglen. Bookings for 
overnight stays were snapped up  
in a matter of days.

Visitors woke up among the vines 
in one of two pop-up hotel rooms, 
each with high end finishes, luxury 
bathroom, on-site pizza oven  
and a regionally focused minibar  
and hamper.

Visit Victoria secured more than 
40 unique media articles for the 
activation, including coverage 
across all mainstream broadcast 
outlets, alongside significant print 
and online features. Twelve media 
familiarisations took place, with  
$2.5 million in earned media achieved. 

This is the second time Visit Victoria 
has run Wine Down Pop Up to 
promote travel to Victoria’s wine 
regions in quieter times of the year.

National cycling event  
delivers boost to Ballarat’s 
tourism operators

The 2021 Federation University Road 
National Championships were held over 
five days in February, attracting elite 
cyclists from around the country with 
their support teams and enthusiastic 
crowds of spectators.

The event was delivered with support 
from the Regional Events Fund and 
saw the nation’s most talented cyclists 
compete for the coveted green and  
gold jersey and a position on the 
Australian team. 

The competition attracted more  
than 2000 event registrations, with 
45 per cent of participants and 
support staff coming from interstate. 
Participants and support staff stayed 
an average of 5.7 days in Ballarat, 
providing a significant boost to the 
region’s accommodation providers, 
restaurants, cafes and small businesses. 

In addition to the cycling action, the 
event showcased the historic city of 
Ballarat and surrounding Buninyong 
to participants and to an even greater 
audience through the national 
broadcast on SBS and FoxSports.  
The event was delivered in line with 
Public Events Framework as a Tier 2 
event and managed to achieve the 
maximum spectators permitted under 
these settings.

Key results 

2021 Federation University Road National Championships

Wine Down Pop Up
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Quarter Four
April to June 2021

Visit Victoria continued to focus on 
supporting the industry through local 
campaigns to build consideration and 
inspire people to travel in the future.

We hosted the Victorian Tourism 
Conference, continued our Stay 
closer, go further and Visit Melbourne 
campaigns, and facilitated major 
events including the State of Music - 
Sounds Better Together, Harry Potter 
and the Cursed Child, Melbourne 
Winter Masterpieces Disney: The 
Magic of Animation, Melbourne Winter 
Masterpieces French Impressionism,  
and the opening night of RISING.

Key activity

Victoria as a leading business 
events destination

The Victorian State Budget 2021/22 
helped strengthen MCB as the state’s 
lead agency in acquiring and delivering 
business events through a long-term 
commitment for the Business Events 
Program of $42.913 million in funding 
over four years. 

The funding will enable MCB to continue 
to build Victoria’s reputation as the 
nation’s leading business destination, 
and to attract a strong pipeline of 
business events to our state. This 
investment provides more flexibility in 
supporting MCB to boost its presence in 
national business events and allows for 
a greater focus targeting short lead-
time business events, until international 
conferences return.

Speakers included the Minister for 
Tourism, Sport and Major Events, the 
Hon. Martin Pakula MP, Craig Tiley (CEO 
Tennis Australia), Sam Bloom (author of 
Heartache & Birdsong), Lisa MacCallum 
(former Vice President of NIKE), 
Phillipa Harrison (Managing Director, 
Tourism Australia), Shane Delia (Chef, 
Restaurateur and founder of Providoor), 
Jason Marriner (CEO Marriner Group), 
and Sarah Hunter (Chief Economist for 
BIS, Oxford Economics).  

Delivered by Visit Victoria in 
partnership with the Victorian Tourism 
Industry Council (VTIC), the conference 
provided an opportunity for industry 
to get together – face to face – to 
share insights from the past year  
and ideas for the future.

At the conference, Minister Pakula 
released the Visitor Economy Recovery 
and Reform Plan (VERRP). The plan 
serves as a whole-of-state strategy 
with a goal of achieving $35 billion in 
annual visitor expenditure supporting 
300,000 jobs by June 2024.

As part of the conference, Visit Victoria 
shared key marketing and consumer 
insights after launching several major 
campaigns and initiatives during the 
pandemic, including Click for Vic, Stay 
close, go further and Visit Melbourne. 

Victorian Tourism Conference

In April, Visit Victoria hosted the 
Victorian Tourism Conference for the 
first time where more than 900 people 
from our industry came together from 
all over the state to help shape the 
future of tourism in Victoria. 

Held at the Melbourne Convention 
and Exhibition Centre from 21-22 April, 
it was one of the biggest business 
conferences in Australia in more  
than a year.

Victorian Tourism Conference 2021

Victorian Tourism Conference 2021
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National Business Events 
Program introduced

To stimulate the short and medium-
term recovery of the local business 
events sector, the Victorian Government 
launched the National Business  
Events Program.

Administered by MCB and the first of its 
kind for Victoria, the program offered 
business event organisers a significant 
cash injection to support actual costs 
for hosting their event in Melbourne, 
including accommodation, venue hire, 
transport and other event costs.

The program boosted demand across 
the Victorian business events sector 
and provided planners and key decision 
makers the confidence to plan and book 
their event in Melbourne. It will help to 
fill hotels, venues and support the local 
supply chain in the years ahead. 

The program placed Victoria in a  
more competitive position to capture a 
higher portion of the national business 
events market, receiving more than  
200 expressions of interest. 

Victoria plated up to millions  
of viewers with MasterChef

Victoria was on show to a  
national audience in June with 
MasterChef showcasing Apollo Bay, 
Daylesford and Melbourne thanks  
to a partnership between Visit  
Victoria and Endemol Shine.

In three episodes from Monday 7 June, 
the judges travelled with the top 14 
contestants and crew, with a series of 
culinary challenges in regional seaside 
and country locations, as well as in the 
heart of Melbourne. Overall, the episodes 
had approximately 2.6 million views 
across live and catch-up broadcasts. 

It was the first time the competition was 
taken outside the MasterChef kitchen in 
two years, with the judges, contestants 
and crew thrilled to savour the sights, 
local produce and hospitality on offer. 

MasterChef judge Jock Zonfrillo said:  
“To be able to take the show on the 
road to regional Victoria was awesome. 
Victoria has so many incredible local 
producers and hospitality offerings, 
and we had a great time in Apollo Bay 
and Daylesford. To explore Melbourne’s 
vibrant food culture and to have these 
wonderful regions quite literally on our 
doorstep is such a special gift.”

Victoria’s Greatest  
Golfing Challenge

As part of Victoria’s Golf Tourism 
Strategy 2018-23, Andy Lee was engaged 
to develop a content series to raise 
awareness of Victoria’s golfing regions 
to interstate markets. Victorian golf 
ambassador Geoff Ogilvy and former 
Australian tennis champion Todd 
Woodbridge were challenged by Andy 
Lee to several light-hearted challenges 
that showcased some of Victoria’s best 
golf courses. Content ran nationally 
across Nine’s Worldwide of Sport and 
Visit Melbourne social channels delivering 
some of Visit Victoria’s strongest online 
content results to date.

• 2.3m+ social media impressions  
to golfers in Australia 

• Nearly 400,000 total views on  
YouTube to date 

• 22,000 click throughs to  
visitmelbourne.com/golf signalling 
consideration to travel 

• Distributed via Nine Worldwide  
of Sport to 620,000+ audience  
across three weeks

Melbourne Winter  
Masterpieces returns

The Melbourne Winter Masterpieces 
inspired visitors to head into the city 
to enjoy arts and culture in winter, 
with Disney: The Magic of Animation 
opening at ACMI and French 
Impressionism at the National 
Gallery of Victoria (NGV).

Victorians of all ages enjoyed 
the magical world of Disney, 
with the blockbuster exhibition 
featuring more than 500 artworks 
including paintings and sketches, 
archival footage of Disney classics, 
memorabilia and digital content 
from recent Disney hits. 

Visit Victoria and ACMI launched a 
cooperative marketing campaign 
in Sydney, Brisbane and Adelaide 
during May, including digital and 
social activity.

The NGV’s French Impressionism 
was a major exhibition of more 
than 100 masterworks of French 
Impressionism in partnership with 
the Museum of Fine Arts, Boston. 
Opening in June, the season was 
impacted by restrictions to slow  
the spread of COVID-19.

MasterChef Victoria’s Greatest Golfing Challenge
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Domestic partnership marketing

Visit Victoria worked with multiple partners during the financial 
year including airlines, wholesalers, retailers, online travel 
agents and Tourism Australia to promote Melbourne, regional 
Victoria and key events in intrastate and interstate markets.

Cooperative tactical campaigns with partners including Stayz, 
Wotif, Accor Hotels, Luxury Escapes, Qantas Airways, Virgin 
Australia and Helloworld, delivered an increase in visitation and 
expenditure to Melbourne and regional Victoria.

30,751
Delegates expected to business 
events in future years, from 
events secured YTD 
(79 per cent of target)

$150m
Forecast economic impact of 
business events in future years, 
from events secured YTD  
(75 per cent of target)

$37.9m
Value of domestic  
media generated 
(target $22 million) 

65,861
Room nights from business 
events in future years, from 
events secured YTD  
(69 per cent of target)

Facilitated five major events 
as part of the Major Events 
Fund, including State of Music 
– Sounds Better Together, 
Harry Potter and the Cursed 
Child, Melbourne Winter 
Masterpieces Disney: The 
Magic of Animation, Melbourne 
Winter Masterpieces French 
Impressionism, and the 
opening night of RISING

Funded four events as part 
of the Regional Events Fund, 
including Western Bulldogs 
at Mars Stadium, Clunes 
Booktown, Great Ocean Road 
Running Festival and Island 
Whale Festival

5.5m
Engaged digital audience 
(target 5.4 million)

New product showcase  
in Phillip Island

In April 2021, Visit Victoria supported 
the launch of Phillip Island’s first luxury 
boutique accommodation, Five Acres.

We secured $330,000 in earned 
media value, with coverage in the 
Weekend Australian Magazine, Qantas 
Magazine, Qantas Travel Insider, 
Vogue.com and Gourmet Traveller. 
In May, 7News Melbourne weather 
presenter, Jane Bunn, visited Phillip 
Island Nature Parks as part of Visit 
Victoria’s ‘weather week’ with  
the network.

We also worked with Phillip Island 
Nature Parks to secure coverage in the 
South Gippsland Sentinel-Times and 
Phillip Island & San Remo Advertiser.

Enhancing our digital 
capability, content hub  
and social reach

In 2020-21, Visit Victoria upgraded 
and optimised our digital platforms, 
including website improvements  
for visitvictoria.com and 
visitmelbourne.com.

Key changes included:

• Creating the new Click for Vic campaign 
site components, including e-commerce 
style filtering of available products, 
swipeable features and new modules.

• Redesigning product templates, 
including improved image galleries 
and new booking conversion links for 
industry operators. 

• Developing a new long form template 
to feature interviews and articles for 
Victorian tourism operators.

• Conducting a search engine 
optimisation review resulting in 
recommendations for technical 
and content improvements for Visit 
Victoria’s websites.

We also continued to focus on creating 
engaging social media content to 
promote Melbourne and regional  
Victoria to a global audience.

Over the financial year, we conducted 
13 content shoots and familiarisations 
in Melbourne and regional Victoria, 
achieving 11.7 million views of content and 
167,000 actions. These content shoots also 
helped us to accrue thousands of images 
and video pieces for our content hub.

Visit Victoria also launched a TikTok 
account – growing the audience by 
163,000 with 1.4 million views of our 
content on the channel.

Key results 

Pyramid Rock Lookout

Penguin Parade - Phillip Island Nature Parks
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The Directors present their report together with the financial statements of the entity Visit Victoria Limited  
(the Company), and of the consolidated entity, being the Company and its subsidiary Melbourne Convention 
Bureau Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2021 and the auditor’s report thereon.

1. Directors

The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the previous financial year are:

Name and
Independence Status

Experience and other directorships

Janet Whiting AM
Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 7 April 2016

Appointed Chair 10 September 2019

Partner of Gilbert & Tobin, President of NGV Council of Trustees, Director, 
Hostplus, Council member of Newman College and Patron, Stephanie 
Alexander Kitchen Garden Foundation

Gerry Ryan OAM
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016

Appointed Deputy Chairman 27 April 2020

Founder and owner of Jayco, Chairman of Global Creatures, and director  
of other tourism and leisure organisations. Director of Melbourne Storm  
Rugby League Club 

Deborah Beale AM
Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 18 Jan 2018

Chair Audit and Risk Committee

Chair, Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd.  Director, Federation Square, The 
Production Company. Director, Pinnacle Investment Management Ltd, Evoque 
Pty Ltd and Victorian Ports Corporation Ltd. Scholarship Trustee, Mary Jane 
Lewis Scholarship Fund

Peter Crinis
Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 27 July 2016

Chief Operating Officer, Crown Melbourne. Board member, Tourism 
Accommodation Australia. Member & Director, Childrens Cancer Foundation

Helen Moran
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016 resigned 30 June 2021

Audit and Risk Committee member to 30 June 2021

Common Board Member Mount Buller & Mount Stirling Alpine Resort 
Management Board Falls Creek Alpine Resort Management Board, Mount 
Hotham Alpine Resort Management Board

Name and
Independence Status

Experience and other directorships

Sara Quon
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016

Audit and Risk Committee member

Chief Executive Officer Sovereign Hill, Executive Committee Member and 
Treasurer of Council of Australasian Museum Directors, Board member, 
Committee for Ballarat, Advisory Group Member, Federation University 
Business School, Trustee of Ferry Family Charitable Trust, Member of Federal 
Government Regional Tourism Bushfire Recovery Grants Advisory Panel  
and VTIC Visitor Economy Recovery Taskforce

Lewis Martin
Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 20 Oct 2017

Seven Melbourne: Managing Director & Network Head of Sport, Royal Children’s 
Hospital Good Friday Appeal: Board member, Royal Children’s Hospital 
Foundation: Director, Cure for MND Foundation: Director

Eddie McGuire AM
Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed on 31 May 2020

Inaugural president, Big Bash League’s Melbourne Stars. Chairman, Michael 
Long Learning and Leadership Foundation. Board member, JAM TV Australia 
Pty Ltd and McGuire Media Pty Ltd. Director of other media organisations

Janette Kendall
Independent  
Non-Executive Director 

Appointed on 31 May 2020

Non-executive director, Vicinity Centres, Costa Group, Australian Venue Co,  
KM Property Funds and Tabcorp

2. Company Secretary

Keith Herdman, CPA, was appointed to the position of Company Secretary effective 13 February 2017.
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3.  Directors’ Meetings

Director Board  
Meetings

Audit and Risk  
Committee Meetings 

 A B A B

Ms Janet Whiting AM 6 6 - -

Mr Gerry Ryan OAM 6 6 - -

Ms Deborah Beale AM 6 6 9 9

Mr Peter Crinis 5 6 - -

Ms Janette Kendall 6 6 - -

Mr Eddie McGuire AM 5 6 - -

Mr Lewis Martin 5 6 - -

Ms Helen Moran 6 6 9 9

Ms Sara Quon 6 6 9 9

A – Meetings attended        B – Meetings eligible attend

4. Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee was established to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility to oversee and 
advise on the development and review of a framework of internal control for management of the consolidated 
entity. The Committee will comprise a minimum of three members, all of which are independent, non-executive 
directors of the Company. The Chair may not be the Chair of the Board.

The external auditors/internal auditors, the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer and other persons  
are invited to attend Audit and Risk Committee meetings at the discretion of the Committee.

5. Risk Management

A risk management framework was approved by the Audit and Risk Committee and adopted by the Board for the 
consolidated entity. The framework was developed in consultation with external advisers to ensure it is consistent 
with the Australian Risk Management Standard with an internal control system in place to enable the executive  
to understand, manage and satisfactorily control risk exposures.  

Overview of the risk management system

The Board oversees the establishment and implementation of the consolidated entity’s Risk Management System.  
The Board established and implemented the Audit and Risk Committee with the role of assessing, monitoring  
and managing the operational, financial reporting and compliance risks for the consolidated entity.

6.  Environmental regulation

The consolidated entity’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either 
Commonwealth or State legislation.

7. Ethical Standards

Conflict of Interest

Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict with 
those of the Company. The Board has developed procedures to assist directors to disclose potential conflicts  
of interest. 

Where the Board believes that a significant conflict exists for a director on a Board matter, the director concerned 
is not present at the meeting whilst the item is considered.

From time to time, the Directors receive invitations to events.  Such events relate to marketing launches or  
are either part of the major events calendar or may be events of a similar or potential nature. Such invitations  
are complimentary. Directors are encouraged to accept such invitations given the nature of the business  
of the Company.

8. Company Objectives, Strategies and Principal activities

Visit Victoria Limited (the ‘Company’) is a public company limited by guarantee that is incorporated and domiciled 
in Australia. The address of the Company’s registered office is Level 28, 727 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3008. 

From its inception on 7 April 2016, the Company’s role for the Government of the State of Victoria has been to have 
a unified and dedicated approach to growing Victoria’s visitor economy through tourism marketing and event 
acquisition. A cohesive, new approach has been created to market Melbourne and Victoria to attract more visitors 
and world-class events to the state and consolidate Melbourne and Victoria’s position as a leading global tourism 
and events destination.

The Company is a not-for-profit entity and primarily is involved in providing tourism services as well as acquiring  
and developing business events and major events for the Victorian visitor economy.

9. Financial Review

The consolidated entity recorded a deficit for the year ended 30 June 2021 of $25,555 (2020: surplus of $5,802,425). 

Revenue for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 was $112,394,000 (2020: $106,615,441). The increase in revenue 
results from passing State Government Grant funding to various events especially for some new activities in 
2020/21. 

10.  Dividends

The Company’s constitution does not permit the payment of dividends to members of the Company.

11. State of Affairs

In the opinion of the directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated  
entity that occurred during the financial year under review not otherwise disclosed in these consolidated  
financial statements.
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12. Likely developments

There are no likely developments that will influence the Company’s operations or the expected results  
of its operations.

Covid-19

The tourism and hospitality industries and regional communities have been particularly impacted by Covid-19 
forced lockdowns. The Company is acutely aware of the need to re-energise the State economy by leading  
the recovery efforts through powerful marketing campaigns and messages.

13. Indemnification and Insurance of Officers and Auditors 

Indemnification

Since its inception the Company has not indemnified or made a relevant agreement for indemnifying against  
a liability any person who is or has been an Officer or Auditor of the Company.

Insurance premiums

During the financial year the Company has paid insurance premiums of $17,760 (2020: $17,061) in respect of 
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. These insurance premiums related to insurance of Directors and  
Officers of the Company named in this report. The insurance policies outlined do not contain detail of the  
premium paid in respect of individual Directors and Officers of the Company. The insurance premiums relate to:

• costs and expenses incurred by the relevant officers in defending proceedings, whether civil or criminal  
and whatever their outcome; 

14. Member’s guarantee

The Company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If the 
Company is wound up, the constitution states that the member is required to contribute a maximum amount  
of $10 towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the entity. At 30 June 2021, the total amount that the 
member of the Company is liable to contribute if the Company wound up is $10 (2020: $10).

15. Auditor’s independence declaration

The auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 86 and forms part of the directors’ report for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2021. 

This report is made with a resolution of the directors.

Ms Janet Whiting AM Ms Deborah Beale AM
Chair Director

Dated at Melbourne this 11th day of October 2021

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 30 June 2021

Note 2021 2020

$ $

Operating revenue 2.1 112,394,000 106,615,441 

Employee benefit expenses 3.2 (22,145,057) (21,341,777)

Marketing expenses 3.3 (38,436,435) (35,109,302)

Grant expenses 3.4 (46,289,938) (38,387,679)

Administration expenses 3.5 (2,389,563) (2,905,778)

Depreciation and amortisation 4.4 (3,078,836) (3,048,242)

Finance costs 2.4 (79,726) (20,238)

Net results from operations  (25,555) 5,802,425 

  

Total comprehensive income / (loss) (25,555) 5,802,425 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) attributable to:   

Owners of the Company 29,577 6,095,160 

Non-controlling interests (55,132)  (292,735)

(25,555) 5,802,425 

The notes on pages 56 to 84 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

as at 30 June 2021 

Note 2021 2020

$ $

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 63,650,699 35,264,465

Trade and other receivables 5.1 540,537 2,543,722

Other assets 5.2 539,035 503,126

Total current assets 64,730,271 38,311,313

Property, plant and equipment 4.1 1,631,603 2,017,884

Right of use assets 4.1,4.2 4,557,682 6,443,619

Intangible assets 4.3 998,586 1,108,865

Other assets 5.2 27,566 27,566

Total non-current assets 7,215,437 9,597,934

Total assets 71,945,708 47,909,247

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 5.3 49,673,462 24,054,061

Employee benefits 3.2.2 2,351,944 2,175,662

Lease liabilities 4.2 1,917,746 1,804,171

Total current liabilities 53,943,152 28,033,894

Lease liabilities 4.2 2,911,971 4,829,716

Employee benefits 3.2.2 465,872 395,370

Total non-current liabilities 3,377,843 5,225,086

Total liabilities 57,320,995 33,258,980

Net assets 14,624,713 14,650,267

Equity

Retained earnings 12,893,418 12,863,840

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 12,893,418 12,863,840

Non-controlling interest 1,731,295 1,786,427

Total equity 14,624,713 14,650,267

The notes on pages 56 to 84 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 30 June 2021

Retained  
earnings                                

$

Non-controlling 
interest                            

$

Total  
equity  

$

Balance at 30 June 2019 20,389,484  3,472,118 23,861,602 

Adjustment due to AASB 15 and AASB 1058 (14,006,008) (1,392,956) (15,398,964)

Adjustment due to AASB 16 385,204  -   385,204 

Total comprehensive profit / (loss) 6,095,160 (292,735) 5,802,425 

Balance at 30 June 2020 12,863,840 1,786,427 14,650,267 

Total comprehensive profit / (loss) 29,577  (55,132) (25,555)

Balance at 30 June 2021 12,893,418  1,731,295  14,624,713 

The notes on pages 56 to 84 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 30 June 2021

Note 2021 2020

$ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers   140,563,232 119,584,205 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees   (106,190,342)  (109,235,477)

Interest income  49,111  147,232 

Net GST paid to the tax authorities  (3,406,421) (3,949,090)

Net cash from operating activities 6.1.1 31,015,580  6,546,870 

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 4.1  (228,745)  (77,935)

Acquisition of intangible assets 4.3 (467,594)  (588,090)

Net cash used in investing activities  (696,339)  (666,025)

Cash flows from financing activities

Payment of interest on finance lease liability 4.2 (128,837) (167,470)

Payment of finance lease liability 4.2 (1,804,170) (1,695,670)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,933,007) (1,863,140)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 28,386,234 4,017,705 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 July 35,264,465 31,246,760 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 6.1 63,650,699 35,264,465 

The notes on pages 56 to 84 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1. About this report

Visit Victoria Limited (‘the Company’) is a not for profit company limited by guarantee. The Company was 
incorporated in Australia, and at all times during the year ended 30 June 2021, was domiciled in Australia.  
The Company’s registered office is at Collins Square Tower Two, Level 28, 727 Collins Street, Melbourne,  
Victoria, Australia 3008.

The Company was registered with effect from 7 April 2016 and commenced operations from 1 July 2016.   
Operations of the Company including its subsidiary were consolidated into new premises at Collins Square  
on 2 December 2016.  

The Company operates in one industry and geographic segment being primarily involved in providing tourism 
services as well as acquiring and developing business events and major events for the Victorian visitor economy.  
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial results of operations of the Company and its 
subsidiary (collectively the ‘Group’ and individually ‘Group companies’).

On 13 August 2015, the Victorian State Government announced that, in response to the Victorian Visitor Economy 
review, it intended to establish Visit Victoria Limited to drive growth in the visitor economy.  The Company brought 
together the operations of the two government-controlled entities of Tourism Victoria (TV) and the Victorian  
Major Events Company Limited (VMEC).  Agreement was also reached with the members of Melbourne Convention 
Bureau Limited (MCB) on 23 May 2016 that the Company would be allocated 51% voting rights in MCB with its 
members retaining the remaining 49% voting rights. On 1 July 2016, Visit Victoria Limited assumed responsibility  
of all tourism marketing and major events functions undertaken by TV and VMEC. VMEC was deregistered on  
3 September 2019.

1.1  Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group’s functional 
currency and have been prepared on the historical cost basis unless otherwise stated.

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the relevant contract  
rate in effect at the date of the transaction.  Foreign monetary items at reporting date are translated at the 
exchange rate existing at reporting date.  Non-monetary assets carried at fair value that are denominated  
in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair 
value was determined.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis unless otherwise stated. 
The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements whereby 
assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, 
regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which assumes continuity 
of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course  
of business.

The accounting policies set out in the notes have been applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements 
and comparative information for the year ended 30 June 2021. Where necessary, comparatives have been 
reclassified for consistency with current year disclosures.  

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of  
assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are  
recognised prospectively.

1.2 Basis of consolidation

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the 
Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable 
net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

The combination of Melbourne Convention Bureau Limited was achieved through the allocation of 51% voting 
rights to Visit Victoria Limited without the transfer of any consideration. 

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights 
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from 
the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated. 

Non-controlling interests

As outlined in above, through the allocation of 51% voting rights, Visit Victoria Limited has control of Melbourne 
Convention Bureau Limited.  However, Visit Victoria Limited is not entitled to any financial return from its 
involvement with Melbourne Convention Bureau Limited during its operation nor does it have any certainty 
to entitlement to any financial return at the time of the winding up of Melbourne Convention Bureau Limited. 
Accordingly non-controlling interests have been assessed at 100%.  

1.3 Income tax

The consolidated entity is exempt from income tax under section 24AS of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

1.4 Compliance information

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. Details of the Group’s accounting policies are included in these notes to the 
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 11th October 2021.
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Note 2. Funding the delivery of services 

The Group’s operations are mostly funded from the Victorian Government. Other sources of income include bank 
interest, rental income, membership fees and other income from commercial activities. 

2.1 Summary of income that funds the delivery of services 

 2021 2020

 $ $

State Government funding – DJPR 105,052,934 99,374,205

Melbourne Convention and Exhibition Trust 1,795,099 1,800,500

City of Melbourne 400,000 509,375

Industry co-operative revenue 2,525,000 1,700,664

In-kind contribution - 83,600

Membership revenue 382,567 650,579

Advertising sales revenue 270,523 995,875

Other income 1,967,877 1,500,643

Operating Revenue 112,394,000 106,615,441

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Amounts disclosed as revenue 
are net of returns, trade allowances and rebates.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the entity’s activities as 
described below.

2.2 Income from the State Government 

Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions (DJPR)

Operational grants are received from DJPR and other Departments from the State Government of Victoria for  
the purposes of funding the Group’s activities to fulfill its objectives to grow Victoria’s visitor economy through 
tourism marketing. Such grants are recognised as income when the Group gains control of the underlying assets 
(AASB 1058). 

Grants received in connection with major events, business events and regional events are recognised as income 
when the Group has satisfied its performance obligations under the terms of the grant agreement (AASB 15).  

2.3 Other income 

Melbourne Convention and Exhibition Centre Trust (MCET)

The Company receives funding support from MCET through a partnership agreement. Income is recognised  
when it is received or receivable. (AASB 1058)

City of Melbourne

The Company receives funding support from City of Melbourne through a partnership agreement. Income  
is recognised when it is received or receivable. (AASB 1058)

Industry co-operative revenue

The amount recognised for co-operative ventures refers to funds directly received for activities such as brochure 
participation and co-operative marketing.  Funds from co-operative venture participants are recognised when 
received or due and receivable, except where received in respect of the following financial year. (AASB 1058) 

In-kind contributions

In-kind contributions that are non-reciprocal transfers to the Group are recognised at their fair value as  
both income and expenditure when received, where fair value is determined with reference to similar goods  
and services. (AASB 1058)

Membership revenue 

Membership revenue is recognised when received or due and receivable in line with the period and performance 
obligations of the membership. (AASB 15)

Advertising sales revenue

Advertising sales revenue is recognised when it is received or receivable. The Group receives revenue from  
the sale of advertising through its publications. (AASB 1058) 

Other income

Other income is recognised when received or receivable and includes booth/participation fee income,  
co-operative ventures income and value applied to event hospitality provided to other bodies on a contract  
basis and other miscellaneous income. (AASB 1058)

2.4 Finance income and finance costs

Finance income and finance costs include:

• interest income;

• interest expense on lease liabilities. 

Interest income and interest expense is recognised using the effective interest method which allocates the interest 
over the relevant period.

 2021 2020

 $ $

Interest income on bank deposit 49,110 147,232

Interest expense on lease liabilities (128,836) (167,470)

Net Finance Income /(expense) (79,726) (20,238)
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Note 3. Cost of delivering goods and services

The Group’s most significant expenses result from providing marketing and tourism services, grant payments  
for event acquisitions and the regular operating costs in delivering these services.

3.1 Summary of expenses incurred in the delivery of services 

 2021 2020

 $ $

Employee benefit expenses    22,145,057       21,341,777 

Marketing expenses    38,436,435       35,109,302 

Grant expenses    46,289,938       38,387,679 

Administration expenses      2,389,563         2,905,778 

Depreciation      3,078,836         3,048,242 

Total operating expenses 112,339,829 100,792,778

3.2 Employee benefits

 2021 2020

 $ $

Wages and salary and associated on costs 19,234,777 18,588,254

Annual leave expense 1,274,530 1,079,982

Contributions to defined contribution plans 1,375,884 1,385,543

Contributions to defined benefit plans 45,629 43,207

Long service leave expense 214,237 244,791

 22,145,057 21,341,777

3.2.1  Employee benefits in the consolidated statement of profit and loss

Employee expenses are recognised when incurred. These expenses include all costs related to employment 
including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, termination payments, payroll tax and  
workers compensation insurance premiums.

Defined superannuation contribution expense

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided. 
Superannuation contributions are made by the Group to an employee superannuation fund and are charged  
as expenses when incurred. During the year the Group paid contributions of $1,375,884 (2020: $1,385,543) to  
defined contribution superannuation plans on behalf of employees.

Defined superannuation benefit expense

The Group contributes to the State Superannuation Fund (revised and new) defined benefit plan in Australia.  
The Group does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of this plan because the Group has no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay 
superannuation contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury and Finance discloses the State’s 
defined benefit liabilities in its disclosure for administered items. However, superannuation contributions paid 
or payable for the Group’s employees for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in  
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or consolidated statement  
of financial position respectively.  

3.2 Employee benefits – continued

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the 
amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount 
because of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Other long-term employee benefits

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. 

3.2.2 Employee benefits in the consolidated statement of financial position

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of annual leave, long service leave (LSL) and 
other leave entitlements for services rendered to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the 
period the services are delivered.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits 
is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. The amount recognised as a provision 
is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, 
considering the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 
amount is the present value of those cash flows, using a discount rate that reflects the time value of money 
and risks specific to the provision.

 2021 2020

 $ $

Provision for annual leave 1,204,695 1,172,659

Provision for long service leave 1,448,348 1,321,995

Provision for others 164,773 76,378

 2,817,816 2,571,032

Current 2,351,944 2,175,662

Non - current 465,872 395,370

 2,817,816 2,571,032

Annual leave

The annual leave provision is classified as a current provision and measured at the undiscounted amount 
expected to be paid. The Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave

Unconditional long service leave is disclosed as a current liability even though the Group does not expect to 
settle the liability within 12 months, as it does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. 

The components of current long service leave liability are measured at an undiscounted value where the 
Group expects to wholly settle within 12 months, or present value if the Group does not expect to wholly settle 
within 12 months. Conditional long service leave is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. 
This non-current long service leave is measured at its present value.

Provision for others 

This provision includes other leave entitlements defined in the Enterprise Agreement.
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3.3 Marketing expenses

The Group incurs marketing expenses in fulfilling its objective to grow Victoria’s visitor economy through tourism 
marketing. The Group undertakes a multi-layered approach to achieve this objective by adopting a strong 
presence in the domestic, international and digital environments.   Marketing expenses include costs associated 
with campaign creation and development, media buy across multiple channels, industry engagement, research 
and technology and digital infrastructure. Marketing costs are recognised as incurred when the relevant service 
has been provided.   

3.4 Grant expenses

The Group provides funding to attract visitors, conferences and world-class events to the State and consolidate 
Melbourne and Victoria’s position as a leading global tourism and events destination. Payments are expensed  
as incurred and when performance obligations are met or contractual milestones are achieved.     

3.5 Administration expenses

Administration expenses comprise the day to day running costs incurred in the normal operations and 
management of the Group.       

2021 2020

$ $

IT management 586,004 710,530

Professional services and consultancy 495,887 404,853

Insurance 270,467 233,631

Communications 251,177 266,728

Office accommodation 509,324 533,470

Other 276,704 756,566

 2,389,563 2,905,778

Note 4. Key assets available to deliver services 

The Company owns and controls right of use assets, property, plant and equipment (PPE) and intangible assets 
(computer software) that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives. They represent the resources that are entrusted to 
the Group to be utilised for the delivery of the business activities. 

4.1 Total key assets 

 Net carrying amount

 2021 2020

 $ $

Leasehold improvements 1,043,653 1,474,675

Fixtures and fittings 459,397 473,720

Plant & equipment 128,553 69,489

Total Property, plant and equipment 1,631,603 2,017,884

Right of use assets 4,557,682 6,443,619

Computer software 547,180 623,878

Work in progress 451,406 484,987

Total Intangible assets 998,586 1,108,865

Total net carrying amount 7,187,871 9,570,368

Where the assets included in this section are carried at fair value, additional information is disclosed in Note 7.3 in 
connection with how those fair values were determined.

Recognition and measurement

Initial measurement – Right-of-use asset acquired by lessees. 

The Company recognises a right of use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right of 
use asset is initially measured at cost which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for:

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus 

• any initial direct costs incurred, and 

• an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the  
site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

Initial recognition – All other PPE.

Items of PPE are initially measured at cost. 

• Where an asset is acquired for nil or nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition. 

• The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term  
of the lease or their estimated useful lives. 

• PPE with a cost greater than $1,000 are capitalised.

Subsequent measurement – Right-of-use asset

The Company depreciates right of use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the 
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right of use asset or the end of the lease term. The right of use assets are 
also subject to revaluation. The right of use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any and adjusted 
for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

Subsequent measurement – All other PPE 

PPE are subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and any allowance for impairment. 
Depreciated historical cost is generally a reasonable estimate of fair value because of the short useful lives of  
the assets concerned.
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4.1 Key assets available to deliver services – continued

 
Right of Use 

Assets
Leasehold 

improvements
Fixtures 

and fittings
Plant and 

equipment
Leased     

plant  Total 

 $ $ $ $ $  $ 

Cost       

Balance at 1 July 2019 8,329,557 3,017,155 751,398 664,329 32,480  12,794,919 

Additions  -    -   121,184 50,292  -    171,476 

Disposals -   -     -    -   (32,480) (32,480) 

Balance at 30 June 2020 8,329,557 3,017,155  872,582 714,621  -    12,933,914 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses       -   

Balance at 1 July 2019  -   1,111,457 276,346  529,228 31,268  1,948,299 

Depreciation 1,885,938 431,023 122,516      115,904  1,212  2,556,592 

Disposals - - - - (32,480) (32,480)

Balance at 30 June 2020   1,885,938    1,542,480      398,862      645,132     -    4,472,411 

            -   

Carrying amounts         -   

At 30 June 2020   6,443,619    1,474,675      473,720        69,489   -    8,461,503 

      

Cost       

Balance at 1 July 2020   8,329,557    3,017,155      872,582      714,621    -    12,933,914 

Additions   -      -        120,933      107,812   -    228,745 

Balance at 30 June 2021   8,329,557    3,017,155      993,515      822,433     -    13,162,659 

       

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses     

Balance at 1 July 2020   1,885,938    1,542,480  398,862  645,132   -    4,472,411 

Depreciation   1,885,937  431,023  135,256        48,748    -    2,500,963 

Balance at 30 June 2021 3,771,875 1,973,502 534,117 693,880  - 6,973,374

        

Carrying amounts          -   

At 1 July 2020   6,443,619    1,474,675      473,720   69,489  -    8,461,503 

At 30 June 2021   4,557,682    1,043,653      459,397   128,553  -    6,189,285 

4.2 Right of use asset and lease liability

Right of use asset (ROU)

Right of use assets are measured at the net present value (NPV) of the total lease payment for the remaining  
life of the lease. The Group recognise the Right of Use Assets for the lease of the Melbourne head office at  
Collins Square Tower Two, Level 28, 727 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia 3008.  The ROU is amortised 
over the remaining lease periods and the fair value assessment is done annually to 30 November 2023 (end of 
lease term).

Lease liability

Lease liability is calculated by taking the present value of lease payments over the lease term, discounted using 
the interest rate recommended by the Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF). 

 Lease Liability Lease Liability

 2021 2020

  $  $ 

Balance at 1 July        6,633,887        8,329,557 

Interest expense           128,836           167,470 

Lease payment (1,933,006) (1,863,140)

Balance at 30 June        4,829,717        6,633,887 

   

Current        1,917,746        1,804,171 

Non Current        2,911,971        4,829,716 

Total as at 30 June        4,829,717        6,633,887 

Lease payments comprise interest payment component of $128,836 (2020: $167,470) and payment of lease liability 
of $1,804,171 (2020: $1,695,670).
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4.3 Intangible assets

The Company owns intangible assets of computer software and work in progress relates to the Company’s  
website development. 

 Computer 
software

Work in 
progress

 Total 

 $ $ $

Cost 

Balance at 1 July 2019  1,176,730  391,447  1,568,177 

Additions -  588,090  588,090 

Transfer to computer software  494,550 (494,550)  -   

Balance at 30 June 2020  1,671,280  484,987  2,156,267 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2019  555,754  -    555,754 

Amortisation  491,648  -    491,648 

Balance at 30 June 2020  1,047,402  -    1,047,402 

Carrying amounts

At 30 June 2020  623,878  484,987  1,108,865 

Cost 

Balance at 1 July 2020  1,671,280  484,987  2,156,267 

Additions  16,188  451,406  467,594 

Transfer to computer software  484,987 (484,987)  -   

Balance at 30 June 2021  2,172,455  451,406  2,623,861 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2020  1,047,402  -    1,047,402 

Amortisation  577,873  -    577,873 

Balance at 30 June 2021  1,625,275  -    1,625,275 

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2020  623,878  484,987  1,108,865 

At 30 June 2021  547,180  451,406  998,586 

4.4 Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of PPE less their estimated residual values using the straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised in profit or loss. Leasehold assets are 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the  
Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment, right of use assets and intangible  
assets are as follows, consistent from the previous financial year:

 Useful life Depreciation

  2021 2020

  $ $

Right of use assets 3-7 years 1,885,937 1,885,938

Leasehold improvements 3-7 years 431,023 431,023

Fixtures and fittings 5-10 years 135,256 122,516

Plant & equipment 3-12 years 48,748 117,116

Intangible assets 2-5 years 577,873 491,648

Total depreciation  3,078,836 3,048,240
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Note 5. Other assets and liabilities  

This section describes those assets and liabilities, including receivables and payables, that arise from the Group’s 
operations comprising receivables and payables that are short-term in nature.

5.1 Receivables

 2021 2020

 $ $

Trade receivables due from related parties 39,815 1,395,439

Trade receivables from other parties 440,827 1,190,613

Provision for impairment (11,165) (197,315)

Other receivables 71,061 154,985

 540,537 2,543,722

   

Current 540,537 2,543,722

Non-Current   -      -   

 540,537 2,543,722

Receivables consist predominantly of debtors in relation to goods and services. All receivables in 2019/20 and 
2020/21 are current in nature and will be settled within 12 months.  

Trade receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as “financial assets at amortised 
cost”. They are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. The Group holds 
the contractual receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Provision for impairment. The Group company assesses the recoverability of receivables on an individual basis. 
The allowance accounts in respect of receivables are used to record impairment losses unless the Group company 
is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible, at which point the amount is considered irrecoverable 
and is written off against the financial asset directly. The movement in the provision for impairment in respect of 
receivables during the year was as follows:

 2021 2020

 $ $

Balance at 1 July 197,315 5,407

Impairment loss (derecognised) (186,150) 191,908

 Balance at 30 June 11,165 197,315

During the year the Group company reached a settlement with a customer regarding the provision of convention 
management services. The terms of the settlement enabled the Group company to derecognise an impairment 
provision recorded in the prior year.  

5.2 Other assets 

Other non-financial assets include prepayments and deposits. 

• Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made 
in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

• Deposits represents property deposits for the overseas office rental arrangements. 

5.3 Payables

 2021 2020

 $ $

Trade payables due to related parties 1,760,000     -   

Trade payables to other parties 1,010,700 644,666

Accrued expenses 9,828,771 3,390,444

Trade payables 12,599,471 4,035,110

Contract liabilities 36,185,190 20,443,560

Other 888,801 (424,609)

Other payables 37,073,991 20,018,951

Total Payables 49,673,462 24,054,061

   

Current 49,673,462 24,054,061

Non-Current                           -                          -   

 49,673,462 24,054,061

Payables consist of:

• Trade payables, such as accounts payable, are classified as financial instruments and measured at amortised 
cost (refer to Note 7.1.1 for further details). Trade payable represents liabilities for goods or services provided to 
the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise when the Group becomes obliged  
to make future payments in respect of the purchases of goods and services

• Accrued expenses: consists of mostly event and marketing expenses have been incurred but not paid yet.

• Contract liabilities: consists of amounts received during the year which relates to activities to be conducted 
in future financial years. Revenue is recognised only when the Group has satisfied its performance obligations 
under the terms of the grant and the remaining amount has been deferred in liability until satisfaction of the 
performance obligation.

• Other payables: includes goods and services tax (GST), value added tax (VAT), payroll tax, pay as you go  
(PAYG) withholding, fringe benefits tax (FBT) and others provided as at 30 June.  

Goods and services tax (GST) 

• Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred  
is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition  
of the asset or as part of the expense.

• Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount  
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables  
in the balance sheet.
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Note 6. Financing Operations  

This section describes the financial assets (cash and cash equivalents) that are used by the Group in financing it’s 
operations. This section also includes commitments for expenditure that have arisen from contractual agreements 
relating to funding the Group’s operations and events.

6.1 Cash and Cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalent recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at bank 
and deposits at call with other financial institutions.

 2021 2020

 $ $

Bank balances 63,650,699 35,264,465

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 63,650,699 35,264,465

6.1.1 Reconciliation of net result to cash flows from operating activities

 2021 2020

 $ $

Profit / (loss) for the year             (25,555)         5,802,425 

Adjustments for:   

  Impairment loss                      -              197,315 

  Depreciation on property, plant & equipment            615,026            670,657 

  Amortisation on intangible asset            577,873            491,648 

  Amortisation on right use of assets         1,885,937         1,885,937 

         3,053,281         9,047,982 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables         2,003,185            618,679 

(Increase)/decrease in other assets             (35,909)            369,837 

Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables       25,748,239        (3,779,367)

Increase/(Decrease) in employee benefits            246,784            289,739 

Net cash provided by operating activities       31,015,580         6,546,870 

6.2 Commitments for expenditure

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts. These 
commitments are disclosed by way of a note at their nominal value and are inclusive of the GST payable.

6.2.1 Grant Commitments 

Commitments for the payment of grants under contracts in existence at the reporting date but not recognised  
as liabilities and payable are:

 2021 2020

Funding $ $

Less than one year 56,742,124 42,398,910

Between one and five years 43,610,273 42,043,566

More than five years 1,828,750 2,653,750

Total 102,181,147 87,096,226

6.2.2 Other Commitments

Commitments for the payment of other expenditure under contract in existence at the reporting date but not 
recognised as liabilities and payable are:

 2021 2020

Others $ $

Less than one year       15,171,507       3,302,591 

Between one and five years         1,168,956          665,275 

More than five years                      -                      -   

Total       16,340,463       3,967,866 
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Note 7. Risks, contingencies, and judgements

The Group is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make 
judgements and estimates associated with the recognition and measurement of items in the consolidated 
financial statements. This section sets out financial instrument specific information, (including exposures  
to financial risks) as well as those items that are contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement  
to be applied, which for the Group relate mainly to fair value determination.

7.1 Fair value determination: financial assets and liabilities  

7.1.1 Accounting classifications and fair values

The financial instruments held by the consolidated entity at the reporting date were non-derivative financial 
assets (trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents) and non-derivative financial liabilities (trade  
and other payables). For all these financial instruments, the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation  
of fair value because of their short-term maturity and the expectation that they will be paid in full.

Note 

Cash and  
cash 

equivalents

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
costs Total

$ $ $ $

2020

Contractual financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 35,264,465                      -                        -   35,264,465

Receivables 5.1                      -   2,543,722                      -   2,543,722

Total Contractual financial assets 35,264,465 2,543,722 - 37,808,187

Contractual financial liabilities     

Payables 5.3                      -   24,054,061 24,054,061

Lease liability 4.2  6,633,887 6,633,887

Total Contractual financial liabilities                      -                        -   30,687,948 30,687,948

2021     

Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 63,650,699                      -   63,650,699

Receivables 5.1                      -   540,537                      -   540,537

Total Contractual financial assets 63,650,699 540,537                      -   64,191,236

Contractual financial liabilities     

Payables 5.3                      -   49,673,462 49,673,462

Lease liability 4.2                      -   4,829,717 4,829,717

Total Contractual financial liabilities                      -                        -   54,503,179 54,503,179

7.1.2 Measurement of fair values

No financial instruments are held at fair value, however, should items be held at fair value in the future the 
Group’s policy for determining the fair values and net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities  
is as follows: 

• The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions are traded  
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; and

• The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with  
generally accepted pricing models on discounted cash flow analysis.

7.2 Financial risk management 

The Group’s main exposures are to the following financial risks: 

• credit risk 
• liquidity risk
• currency risk and
• interest rate risk

It aims to manage these risks and associated variability in financial performance in accordance with its risk 
management framework.

7.2.1 Risk Management framework

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group,  
to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management  
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. 

The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined  
and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Group has an Audit and Risk Committee who oversees the internal and external audit functions and 
monitor the group’s internal control and compliance framework. The Audit and Risk Committee also monitors 
compliance with the group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk 
management framework in relation to risks faced by the consolidated entity.

7.2.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument  
fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.  

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group held cash and cash equivalents, including other assets, of $63,650,699 (2020: $35,264,465) at  
30 June 2021, which represents its maximum credit exposure on these assets. The cash and cash equivalents  
are held with financial institution counterparties with strong credit ratings.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each debtor.  
The Group does not operate as a ‘trading’ entity and trade receivables relate to sundry receivables from  
a small number of counterparties.  As at 30 June 2021, there is $11,165 allowance for impairment. (2020: $197,315).

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired. The average credit  
period for receivables is 30 days (2020: 30 days). 

Currently the Group do not hold any security relating to its financial assets nor are there any receivables  
whose credit terms have been reviewed to avoid them being past due or impaired.    
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7.2 Financial risk management – continued

  Past Due But Not Impaired
Past 

Due And 
Impaired  
3 Months  

- 1 Year 
Carrying 
Amount

Neither 
Past 

Due Nor 
Impaired

Less Than  
1 Month 1-3 Months

3 Months -  
1 Year

$ $ $ $ $ $

30 June 2020

Trade and other receivables 2,543,722 518,560 1,148,418 718,953 157,791 -   

 2,543,722 518,560 1,148,418 718,953 157,791 -   

30 June 2021

Trade and other receivables 540,537 276,172 90,026 72,287        102,052 -   

 540,537  276,172 90,026 72,287  102,052   -   

Current
Less Than  

1 Month 1-3 Months
3 Months 

 - 1 Year
More Than  

1 Year Total 

30 June 2020

Expected loss rate 36% 0% 1% 3%   

Gross carrying amount  
of receivables

518,560  1,148,418 718,953 157,791  2,543,722 

Loss Allowance  186,150   -    6,325   4,840       -    197,315 

30 June 2021

Expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%  

Gross carrying amount  
of receivables

276,172  90,026 72,287 90,887 11,165 540,537 

Loss Allowance -     -     11,165 11,165 

7.2.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with  
its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity 
to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 

The Group typically ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses, 
including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances  
that cannot reasonably be predicted.

Exposure to liquidity risk

The table below presents the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date.   
Gross and undiscounted amounts are shown below. 

 Carrying 
Amount

Nominal 
Amount 0-1 Year 1-2 Years 2-5 Years

More Than 
5 Years

30 June 2020 $ $ $ $ $ $

Trade and other payables 3,610,501  3,610,501  3,610,501 -    -   -   

Contract liabilities 20,443,560 20,443,560  20,443,560  -      -   -   

Lease liability 6,633,887  6,633,887 1,804,171 2,082,053  2,747,663  

30,687,948 30,687,948 25,858,232 2,082,053     2,747,663          -   

30 June 2021 $ $ $ $ $ $

Trade and other payables 13,488,272 13,488,272 13,488,272 -       -   -   

Contract liabilities 36,185,190 36,185,190  36,185,190  -      -   -   

Lease liability 4,829,717 4,829,717 1,917,746 2,036,607  875,364 -   

 54,503,179 54,503,179 51,591,208 2,036,607 875,364 -   
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7.2.4 Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies in  
which transactions are denominated and the respective functional currency of Group companies.  

The functional currency of Group companies is the Australian dollar (AUD).  The currencies in which these 
transactions are primarily denominated are New Zealand dollar (NZD), US dollar (USD), Euro (EUR), Pound  
sterling (GBP), Singapore dollar (SGD) Japanese yen (JPY) and Chinese Yuan Renminbi (CNY).

Exposure to currency risk

The summary quantitative data about the Group’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the management  
of the Group is as follows.

 30 June 2020

NZD USD EUR GBP SGD JPY

Cash and cash 
equivalents

9,829  76,137   63,538    119,459  64,528 147,652 

Trade receivables                       -                        -                        -                        -                    -              -   

Financial assets  9,829 76,137 63,538 119,459 64,528 147,652 

Trade payables                       -                        -                        -                        -                    -             -   

Financial liabilities                       -                        -                        -                        -                    -             -   

Net exposure 9,829 76,137 63,538 119,459 64,528 147,652 

       

 30 June 2021

NZD USD EUR GBP SGD JPY

Cash and cash 
equivalents

3,652 73,649 32,686 103,663  26,152 18,490 

Trade receivables       -     -   

Financial assets 3,652 73,649 32,686 103,663  26,152 18,490 

Trade payables                       -                        -                        -                        -                    -   -   

Financial liabilities                       -                        -                        -                        -                    -                       -   

Net exposure 3,652 73,649  32,686 103,663 26,152 18,490 

Sensitivity analysis

A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of the AUD, NZD, USD, EUR, GBP, SGD or JPY against all 
other currencies at 30 June would have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in 
a foreign currency and affected equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. The analysis assumes 
that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores any impact of forecast sales 
and purchases.

Sensitivity Analysis Profit or Loss Equity

30 June 2020 10% increase 10% decrease 10% increase 10% decrease

NZD                    983                  (983)                   983                  (983)

USD                 7,614               (7,614)                7,614               (7,614)

EUR                 6,354               (6,354)                6,354               (6,354)

GBP               11,946             (11,946)              11,946             (11,946)

SGD                 6,453               (6,453)                6,453               (6,453)

JPY               14,765             (14,765)              14,765             (14,765)

               48,114             (48,114)              48,114             (48,114)

     

 Profit or Loss Equity

30 June 2021 10% increase 10% decrease 10% increase 10% decrease

NZD                    365                  (365)                   365                  (365)

USD                 7,365               (7,365)                7,365               (7,365)

EUR                 3,269               (3,269)                3,269               (3,269)

GBP               10,366             (10,366)              10,366             (10,366)

SGD                 2,615               (2,615)                2,615               (2,615)

JPY                 1,849               (1,849)                1,849               (1,849)

               25,829             (25,829)              25,829             (25,829)
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7.2 Financial risk management –  continued 

7.2.5 Interest rate risk

The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to the management  
of the Group is as follows.

 Nominal amount Nominal amount

 2021 2020

 $ $

Fixed-rate instruments  (weighted average interest rate) 2.2% 2.2%

Financial assets                      -                        -   

Financial liabilities         4,829,717         6,633,887 

         4,829,717         6,633,887 

   

Variable-rate instruments  (weighted average interest rate) 0.10% 0.21%

Financial assets       63,650,699       35,264,465 

Financial liabilities                      -                        -   

       63,650,699       35,264,465 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed-rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed-rate financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 
Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss or equity.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

For each change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased or (decreased)  
the Group’s equity and profit or loss by $636,507(2020: $352,645). This analysis assumes that all other variables,  
in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. 

7.3 Fair value determination

Fair value determination requires judgement and the use of assumptions. This section discloses the most 
significant assumptions used in determining fair values. Changes to assumptions could have a material impact  
on Group’s results and financial position. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid  
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Group determines the policies and procedures for determining fair values for both financial and non-financial 
assets and liabilities as required. In addition, the fair values of other assets and liabilities which are carried at 
amortised cost also need to be determined for disclosure purposes. The Group has only short term financial 
instruments such as cash at bank, trade receivables and payables and their carrying amount is a reasonable 
approximation of fair value. As such, a fair value disclosure on financial instruments is not required.

In determining fair values a number of inputs are used. To increase consistency and comparability in the financial 
statements, these inputs are categorised into three levels, also known as the fair value hierarchy. The levels are  
as follows:

Level One – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Two – valuation techniques where the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement  
is directly or indirectly observable

Level Three – valuation techniques where the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement  
is unobservable.

The Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole)  
at the end of each reporting period.

Fair value determination: PPE

All PPE assets, except right of use assets, are classified as Level Three in the fair value hierarchy. 

As at 30th June 2020 Carrying amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

$ $ $ $

 Leasehold improvements  1,474,675  -    -    1,474,675 

 Fixtures and fittings  473,720  -    -    473,720 

 Plant and equipment  69,489  -    -    69,489 

 Total  2,017,884  -    -    2,017,884 

 As at 30th June 2021 

 Leasehold improvements  1,043,653  -    -    1,043,653 

 Fixtures and fittings  459,397  -    -    459,397 

 Plant and equipment  128,553  -    -    128,553 

 Total  1,631,603  -    -    1,631,603 

There have been no transfers between levels during the reporting period. When PPE is specialised in use, such  
that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern (i.e. leasehold improvements), fair value is determined 
using the current replacement cost method. For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered  
the highest and best use. Assets are held primarily for their current service potential rather than to generate  
net cash inflows.
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7.3 Fair value determination – continued

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements

Leasehold 
improvements

Fixtures and 
fittings

Plant and 
equipment

Leased  
plant  Total 

$ $ $ $  $ 

Cost 

Balance at 1 July 2019  3,017,155  751,398  664,329  32,480  4,465,362 

Additions  -    121,184  50,292  -    171,476 

Disposals  -    -    -   (32,480) (32,480)

Balance at 30 June 2020  3,017,155  872,582  714,621  -    4,604,358 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2019  1,111,457  276,346  529,228  31,268  1,948,299 

Depreciation  431,023  122,516  115,904  1,212  670,654 

Disposals  -    -    -   (32,480) (32,480)

Balance at 30 June 2020  1,542,480  398,862  645,132  -    2,586,473 

Carrying amounts

At 30 June 2020  1,474,675  473,720  69,489  -    2,017,884 

Cost 

Balance at 1 July 2020  3,017,155  872,582  714,621  -    4,604,358 

Additions  -    120,933  107,812  -    228,745 

Balance at 30 June 2021  3,017,155  993,515  822,433  -    4,833,102 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2020  1,542,480  398,862  645,132  -    2,586,473 

Depreciation  431,023  135,256  48,748  -    615,026 

Balance at 30 June 2021  1,973,502  534,117  693,880  -    3,201,499 

 -   

Carrying amounts  -   

At 1 July 2020  1,474,675  473,720  69,489  -    2,017,884 

At 30 June 2021  1,043,653  459,397  128,553  -    1,631,603 

Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level Three valuations

 Leasehold
improvements

Other PPE

Valuation technique Current replacement cost   Current replacement cost

Significant unobservable inputs         Useful life of the 
improvement 

        Useful life of the asset 
class and cost per unit

Significant unobservable inputs have remained unchanged since 30 June 2020.

7.4 Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, 
but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are 
presented inclusive of any GST.

There are no contingent assets or liabilities for the year ended 30 June 2021 (2020: Nil).

Note 8. Other Disclosures

This section outlines those disclosures and other information required by accounting standards or otherwise  
to assist in the understanding of these consolidated financial statements. Disclosures include information about 
related parties, key management personnel, auditor’s remuneration, significant events occurring after reporting 
date and key information regarding accounting standards.    

8.1 Related parties

Visit Victoria Limited is an entity wholly owned by the Premier of Victoria with funding predominately provided  
by the Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions (DJPR). Related parties of Visit Victoria Limited are considered  
to include:

• all key management personnel and their close family members 
• all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and 
• all departments and public-sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state 

consolidated financial statements.

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.

8.1.1 Significant transactions with the state government entities 

During the reporting year, the Group had the following transactions with the state government entities. 

 2021 2020

 $ $

DJPR – State Government Funding    134,040,431     106,930,169 

DJPR – Contributions          (279,406)        (2,656,986)

    133,761,025     104,273,183 

   

Department of Premier and Cabinet                     -                  5,379 

Victorian Managed Insurance Authority           154,443            136,162 

Department of Transport             20,955                      -   

All amounts above are shown inclusive of GST. 
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8.1.2 Transactions with key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel comprise: 

• the Chief Executive Officer (CEO); and 

• Executive Officers of the Group who meet the definition of key management personnel (KMP) of the entity 
under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.  

Directors of the Group are not remunerated for performing their roles as Directors of the Group.

Key management personnel compensation is detailed below and comprises salaries and non-cash benefits.

• Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are 
usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free  
or subsidised goods or services.

• Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete  
basis when employment has ceased.

• Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long service benefits or deferred compensation

2021 2020

 $ $

Short-term employee benefits 2,246,027  2,381,122 

Post-employment benefits 141,241 149,177 

Other long term benefits 180,124 123,397 

 2,567,392 2,653,696 

Total number of executives and full time equivalent (FTE) 7 8

Key management personnel and director transactions

Several key management personnel, or their related parties, hold positions in other companies that result in 
them having control or significant influence over those companies. A number of these companies transacted 
with the Group during the Year. The terms and conditions of these transactions were no more favourable than 
those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, in similar transactions with non-key 
management personnel related companies on an arm’s length basis.

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel  
and entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows.

Related parties (Key management  
personnel and directors transactions)

Transaction values for 
the year ending 30 June 

Balance outstanding  
as at 30 June

2021 2020 2021 2020

Peter Crinis

 

Crown Melbourne - receipt  -   200   -     -   

Crown Melbourne - payment (296) (24,397)    -      -   

Gerry Ryan OAM Global Creatures - payment  -   (550,000)   -             -   

Mitchelton Winery and Hotel - payment (160)  -     -               -   

Janet Whiting AM National Gallery of Victoria - receipts 12,573 -   12,573       -   

National Gallery of Victoria -  
payment (Note)

(1,760,000) (1,648,493)  (1,760,000)          -   

Deborah Beale AM

 

Federation Square - receipt 6,287 -   6,287            -   

Federation Square - payment   -   (8,189)   -                -   

Sara Quon

 

Sovereign Hill - receipt   -   1,410    -             -   

Sovereign Hill - payment -   (3,960) -             -   

Lyell Strambi Melbourne Airport - receipt -   128,989 -            -   

Lewis Martin Seven Melbourne - payment (184,069) (17,600)    -             -   

Janette Kendall Kendall & Partners Pty Ltd - payment (87,588) -   -       -   

Eddie McGuire AM JAM TV Australia Pty Ltd - payment -   (4,928)   -                   

Helen Moran Falls Creek Alpine Resort Management 
Board - payment

(1,679) -     -   -   

Note: The Company has a future funding commitment of $3,905,000 to National Gallery of Victoria.

Other than the compensation noted at 8.1.2. above there were no related party transactions involving Executives 
Officers of the Company.
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8.2 Auditors’ remuneration

 2021 2020

 $ $

Audit and review services   

Victorian Auditor General’s Office   

  Audit and review of financial statements - Company 77,000 77,000 

  Audit and review of financial statements - Subsidiary 43,000 42,000 

 120,000 119,000 

There were no other services provided by the auditor of the Group during the financial year.

8.3 Subsequent events

The Group does not consider there has arisen, in the interval between the end of the financial year and the  
date of this report, any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to significantly affect  
the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group, in future  
financial years.

COVID-19 has not materially impacted on the judgements, estimates and assumptions made about the financial 
information presented in this report.   

8.4 Australian accounting standards issued that are not yet effective

Certain new and revised accounting standards have been issued but were not effective for the 2020-21 reporting 
period. These accounting standards have not been applied to the consolidated Financial Statements. The 
Company has reviewed its existing policies and assessed the potential implications of these accounting  
standards and do not consider them to have a material impact.

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Visit Victoria Limited (‘the Company’), I state that:

In the opinion of the Directors of Visit Victoria Limited (the Company):

(a) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 51 to 84, are in accordance with the Corporations  
Act 2001, including

(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the consolidated entity as  
at 30 June 2021 and of their performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) 
and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.

Dated at Melbourne this 11th day of October 2021.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors on behalf of the Board.

Ms Janet Whiting AM Ms Deborah Beale AM
Chair Director
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Auditor-General’s Independence Declaration 
 

To the Directors, Visit Victoria Limited 

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an 
independent officer of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which his 
powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. 

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each public body and for the purposes of 
conducting an audit has access to all documents and property and may report to parliament matters 
which the Auditor-General considers appropriate. 

Independence Declaration 
As auditor for Visit Victoria Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021, I declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been: 

• no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit. 

• no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 

  
 

MELBOURNE 
13 October 2021 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 

 

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Directors of Visit Victoria Limited 

Opinion I have audited the consolidated financial report of Visit Victoria Limited (the company) 
and its controlled entities (together the consolidated entity), which comprises the: 

• consolidated entity and company consolidated statement of financial position as 
at 30 June 2021 

• consolidated entity and company consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income for the year then ended 

• consolidated entity and company consolidated statement of changes in equity for 
the year then ended 

• consolidated entity and company consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended 

• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• directors’ declaration. 

In my opinion the financial report is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
including: 

• giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the company and the 
consolidated entity as at 30 June 2021 and of their financial performance and  
cash flows for the year then ended 

• complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the company and the consolidated entity in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements 
of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report 
in Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

I confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, 
which has been given to the Directors of the company, would be in the same terms if 
given to the Directors as at the time of this auditor's report. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for my opinion. 
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Other 
Information 

The Directors of the company are responsible for the Other Information, which 
comprises the information in the company’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 
2021 but does not include the financial report and my auditor’s report thereon. 

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the Other Information and 
accordingly, I do not express any form of assurance conclusion on the Other 
Information. However, in connection with my audit of the financial report, my 
responsibility is to read the Other Information and in doing so, consider whether it is 
materially inconsistent with the financial report or the knowledge I obtained during the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work I have 
performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the Other Information, I am 
required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Directors' 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report  

The Directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of a financial report 
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Corporations Act 2001, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of a financial report that gives a true and fair view 
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the 
company and the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I 
also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company and the 
consolidated entity’s internal control 
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• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors  

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors' use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the company and the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw 
attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the company and the 
consolidated entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 
the entities and business activities within the company and the consolidated 
entity to express an opinion on the financial report. I am responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the company and the 
consolidated entity. I remain solely responsible for my audit opinion. 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 
(continued) 

I communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

I also provide the Directors with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards 

 
 
 

  
 

MELBOURNE 
13 October 2021 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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